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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements
 

EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
(In thousands except share amounts)

 
  September 30,   December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 28,726  $ 22,214 
Accounts and other receivables, net   9,392   11,368 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   5,832   5,997 
Inventory   3,642   2,138 

Total current assets   47,592   41,717 
Property and equipment, net   492   357 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,733   3,078 
Intangible assets, net   25,824   27,669 
Restricted cash   150   150 
Total assets  $ 76,791  $ 72,971 
Liabilities and stockholders' equity         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 5,185  $ 4,192 
Accrued expenses   6,845   6,832 
Deferred revenue   300   15 
Other current liabilities   597   481 

Total current liabilities   12,927   11,520 
Long-term debt   50,775   47,223 
Operating lease liabilities - noncurrent   2,483   2,898 
Other long-term liabilities   3,012   3,000 
Total liabilities   69,197   64,641 
Contingencies (Note 14)         
Stockholders' equity:         

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares
   issued and outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $.001 par value, 300,000,000 and 150,000,000 shares authorized at September 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively; 131,421,846 and 109,417,322 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively   131   109 
Additional paid-in capital   501,834   472,667 
Accumulated deficit   (495,211)   (465,286)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   840   840 

Total stockholders' equity   7,594   8,330 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 76,791  $ 72,971

 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)
(In thousands except per share data)

 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
  2020   2019   2020   2019  

Revenues:                 
Product sales, net  $ 5,758  $ 1,009  $ 14,151  $ 8,941 
License and collaboration agreement   9,535   1,054   11,590   1,125 
Royalty income   402   446   1,565   1,666 

Total revenues   15,695   2,509   27,306   11,732 
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired
intangible assets   1,882   327   3,363   1,363 
Research and development   4,090   3,484   12,219   11,237 
Sales and marketing   5,269   7,778   19,483   22,373 
General and administrative   5,796   4,365   14,949   13,790 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets   615   615   1,845   1,845 

Total operating expenses   17,652   16,569   51,859   50,608 
Loss from operations   (1,957)   (14,060)   (24,553)   (38,876)
Other income (expense):                 

Interest and other income, net   (4)   183   58   692 
Interest expense   (1,840)   (1,770)   (5,430)   (4,389)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —   —   —   (3,810)

Total other expense, net   (1,844)   (1,587)   (5,372)   (7,507)
Net loss  $ (3,801)  $ (15,647)  $ (29,925)  $ (46,383)
Net loss per share - basic and diluted  $ (0.03)  $ (0.15)  $ (0.24)  $ (0.45)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted   127,945   106,938   122,768   102,900 
                 
Net loss  $ (3,801)  $ (15,647)  $ (29,925)  $ (46,383)
Foreign currency translation adjustments   —   —   —   1 
Comprehensive loss  $ (3,801)  $ (15,647)  $ (29,925)  $ (46,382)
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)
(In thousands except share data)

 
                  Accumulated      
  Common Stock   Additional       Other   Total  
  Number of   Par Value   Paid-In   Accumulated   Comprehensive  Stockholders'  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Income   Equity  

Balance at June 30, 2019   106,297,792  $ 106  $ 466,493  $ (439,229)  $ 840  $ 28,210 
Net loss   —   —   —   (15,647)   —   (15,647)
Issuance of stock, net of issue cost   1,707,995   2   2,410   —   —   2,412 
Vesting of stock units   23,457   —   (14)   —   —   (14)
Stock-based compensation   —   —   977   —   —   977 
Balance at September 30, 2019   108,029,244  $ 108  $ 469,866  $ (454,876)  $ 840  $ 15,938 
                         
Balance at June 30, 2020   125,197,899  $ 125  $ 494,633  $ (491,410)  $ 840  $ 4,188 
Net loss   —   —   —   (3,801)   —   (3,801)
Issuance of stock, net of issue costs   6,029,465   6   4,705   —   —   4,711 
Employee stock purchase plan   175,315   —   107   —   —   107 
Vesting of stock units   19,167   —   —   —   —   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   2,389   —   —   2,389 
Balance at September 30, 2020   131,421,846  $ 131  $ 501,834  $ (495,211)  $ 840  $ 7,594 
                         
                  Accumulated      
  Common Stock   Additional       Other   Total  
  Number of   Par Value   Paid-In   Accumulated   Comprehensive  Stockholders'  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Income   Equity  
Balance at January 1, 2019   95,372,236   95   445,192   (408,493)   839   37,633 
Net loss   —   —   —   (46,383)   —   (46,383)
Other comprehensive income   —   —   —   —   1   1 
Issuance of stock, net of issue cost   12,234,495   12   20,743   —   —   20,755 
Exercise of stock options   166,760   1   307   —   —   308 
Vesting of stock units   255,753   —   (87)   —   —   (87)
Stock-based compensation   —   —   3,711   —   —   3,711 
Balance at September 30, 2019   108,029,244  $ 108  $ 469,866  $ (454,876)  $ 840  $ 15,938 
                         
Balance at January 1, 2020   109,417,322  $ 109  $ 472,667  $ (465,286)  $ 840  $ 8,330 
Net loss   —   —   —   (29,925)   —   (29,925)
Issuance of stock, net of issue costs   21,029,465   21   24,680   —   —   24,701 
Employee stock purchase plan   336,975   1   293   —   —   294 
Vesting of stock units   638,084   —   (90)   —   —   (90)
Stock-based compensation   —   —   4,284   —   —   4,284 
Balance at September 30, 2020   131,421,846  $ 131  $ 501,834  $ (495,211)  $ 840  $ 7,594

 

 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

 
  Nine Months Ended  
  September 30  
  2020   2019  
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net loss  $ (29,925)  $ (46,383)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash flows used in operating activities:         

Amortization of intangible assets   1,845   1,845 
Depreciation of property and equipment   135   109 
Amortization of debt discount   534   430 
Non-cash interest expense   977   728 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —   3,810 
Stock-based compensation   4,284   3,711 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable and other current assets   2,494   (10,681)
Inventory   (1,503)   (2,280)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   589   3,481 
Right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities   (45)   47 
Deferred revenue   285   (30)

Net cash used in operating activities   (20,330)   (45,213)
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (170)   (207)
Net cash used in investing activities   (170)   (207)
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from issuance of stock, net of issuance costs   24,802   20,755 
Proceeds under paycheck protection program loan   2,041   — 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt   —   50,000 
Payment of debt issue costs   —   (1,341)
Payment of long-term debt principal   —   (20,000)
Payment of extinguishment of debt costs   —   (2,716)
Net settlement of stock units to satisfy statutory tax withholding   (90)   (87)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan   294   308 
Payment of contingent development milestone   —   (15,000)
Principal payments on finance lease obligations   (35)   — 

Net cash provided by financing activities   27,012   31,919 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   6,512   (13,501)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   22,364   45,411 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 28,876  $ 31,910 
Supplemental cash flow information:         
Cash interest paid  $ 3,910  $ 3,574 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:         
Accrued term loan exit fee   —   3,000

 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Operations and Basis of Presentation  

Overview

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as
of September 30, 2020 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 are unaudited. Certain information in the footnote disclosures of
these financial statements has been condensed or omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and footnotes included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In the opinion of management, these statements have been prepared on the
same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and include all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments, that are necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position, results of operations, comprehensive loss and
cash flows for the periods indicated. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with United States (“U.S.”) generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect, among other things, (i) reported amounts of assets and liabilities;
(ii) disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements; and (iii) reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the entire fiscal year or any future period.

The Company is a pharmaceutical company committed to developing and commercializing innovative ophthalmic products for the treatment of
serious eye disorders. The Company has two products, YUTIQ® and DEXYCU®, which were approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
in 2018.

YUTIQ (fluocinolone acetonide intravitreal implant) 0.18 mg for intravitreal injection, was launched directly in the U.S. in February 2019. YUTIQ is
indicated for the treatment of chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye, which affects between 60,000 to 100,000 people in the
U.S. each year and causes approximately 30,000 new cases of blindness annually, making it the third leading cause of blindness. Injected into the vitreous
humor during a physician office visit, YUTIQ delivers a micro-dose of a corticosteroid on a sustained constant (zero order release) basis for up to 36 months.
YUTIQ is based on the Company’s proprietary Durasert® sustained-release drug delivery technology that can deliver drug for predetermined periods of time
ranging from months to years.

DEXYCU (dexamethasone intraocular suspension) 9%, for intraocular administration, was launched directly in the U.S. in March 2019.  Indicated for
the treatment of post-operative ocular inflammation, DEXYCU is administered locally as a single dose at the conclusion of ocular surgery and is the first long-
acting intraocular product approved by the FDA for this indication. DEXYCU utilizes the Company’s proprietary Verisome® drug-delivery technology that
allows for a single intraocular injection that releases dexamethasone, a corticosteroid, over time. There were approximately 3.8 million cataract surgeries
performed during 2018 in the U.S. and the Company launched DEXYCU with a primary focus on its use following cataract surgery. The Company acquired
DEXYCU in connection with its acquisition of Icon Bioscience, Inc. (“Icon”) in March 2018 (the “Icon Acquisition”).

ILUVIEN® for diabetic macular edema (“DME”), the Company’s licensed product, is sold directly in the U.S. and several European Union (“EU”)
countries by Alimera Sciences, Inc. (“Alimera”) under a license agreement with the Company. In July 2017, the Company expanded the Alimera license
agreement to include the uveitis indication for Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”). European regulatory approval of ILUVIEN for the uveitis
indication was granted in March 2019, subject to obtaining pricing and reimbursement in each applicable country. The Company receives royalty payments
from Alimera for its sales of ILUVIEN.

EYP-1901 is being developed by the Company as a potential 6-month intravitreal treatment for wet age-related macular degeneration
(“wAMD”).  EYP-1901 utilizes the Company’s bioerodible Durasert technology combined with vorolanib, an anti-VEGF tyrosine kinase inhibitor
(“TKI”).  Vorolanib has previously been studied in human clinical trials as an orally delivered therapy. The Company completed initial animal pharmacokinetic
and toxicology studies and initiated a GLP toxicology study in March 2020 to support the anticipated filing of an Investigational New Drug (“IND”)
application with the FDA by the end of 2020. A Phase 1 clinical trial is expected to follow upon acceptance of the IND by the FDA. The Company believes
EYP-1901 has potential for additional
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indications in diabetic retinopathy (“DR”) and retinal vein occlusion (“RVO”).

YUTIQ50 is being developed by the Company as a potential 6-month intravitreal treatment for chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior
segment of the eye. The Company has consulted with the FDA and identified a clinical pathway for a supplemental new drug application (“sNDA”) filing that
involves a clinical trial of a small study, randomized 2:1. The Company is currently evaluating the timeline and investment requirements for the initiation of
this trial.

Effects of the COVID-19 Coronavirus Pandemic

The outbreak of the COVID-19 Coronavirus Pandemic (the “Pandemic”) in March 2020 has had and will likely continue to have, a material and
adverse impact on the Company’s business, including as a result of measures that the Company, other businesses, and government have and will likely
continue to take. This includes a significant impact on cash flows from expected revenues due to the closure of ambulatory surgery centers for DEXYCU and a
significant reduction in physician office visits impacting YUTIQ. These closures precipitated the restructuring of the Company’s commercial organization that
was announced on April 1, 2020 along with a reduction in planned spending for the calendar year. Due to the continued Pandemic, these factors continued to
have an adverse impact on the Company’s revenues, financial condition and cash flows in the third quarter of 2020. Although customer demand for the
Company’s products resumed by the third quarter, the extent and duration of the impact on the Company’s business is uncertain at this time. The Company is
monitoring the Pandemic and its potential effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. This uncertainty could have an
impact in future periods on certain estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s quarterly financial results, including reserves for variable consideration
related to product sales, realizability of certain receivables, assessment for excess or obsolete inventory, and impairment of long-lived assets. Uncertainty
around the extent and duration of the Pandemic, and any future related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Liquidity

The Company has a history of operating losses and has not had significant recurring cash inflows from revenue. The Company’s operations have been
financed primarily from sales of its equity securities, issuance of debt and a combination of license fees, milestone payments, royalty income and other fees
received from its collaboration partners. In the first quarter of 2019, the Company commenced the U.S. launch of its first two commercial products, YUTIQ
and DEXYCU. However, the Company has not received sufficient revenues from its product sales to fund operations and the Company does not expect
revenues from its product sales to generate sufficient funding to sustain its operations in the near-term. As of September 30, 2020, the Company has had
recurring operating losses since its inception and has an accumulated deficit of approximately $495.2 million and working capital of $34.7 million. The
Company had cash and cash equivalents of $28.7 million at September 30, 2020.  

Accordingly, the foregoing conditions, taken together, continue to raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
for one year from the issuance of these financial statements. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

The Company’s plans that are intended to mitigate those conditions include continuing to fulfill its funding needs through cash inflows from revenue
of YUTIQ and DEXYCU product sales, licensing and research collaboration transactions, at-the-market facility (the “ATM Facility”) financing, additional
capital raises and other arrangements. The Company’s plans also include the continuation of expense reductions to conserve cash in response to a continued
adverse impact on the Company’s revenue of YUTIQ and DEXYCU product sales due to the continued Pandemic, slower recovery in product demand
associated with phased reopening of customer facilities, elective surgical procedures and physician office visits in response to the Pandemic. During October
2020, the Company received net proceeds of $5.7 million through its ATM Facility financing. At October 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash
equivalents of $30.5 million. The Company believes that its cash and cash equivalents of $30.5 million at October 31, 2020 and expected cash inflows from its
product sales, royalty agreements, and ATM Facility financing, coupled with cash conservation activities will enable the Company to fund its current and
planned operations into 2021. There can be no assurance that the Company will receive the additional funding from any of these potential resources and, even
if such cash proceeds are received, that such proceeds would be sufficient to support the Company’s current operating plan for the next twelve months from the
date of issuance of these financial statements. Actual cash requirements could differ from management’s projections due to many factors, including the success
of commercialization for YUTIQ and DEXYCU, the actual costs of these commercialization efforts, the continued effect of the Pandemic on our business and
the medical community, additional investments in
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research and development programs, competing technological and market developments and the costs of any strategic acquisitions and/or development of
complementary business opportunities.

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

New accounting pronouncements are issued periodically by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) and are adopted by the Company as
of the specified effective dates. Unless otherwise disclosed below, the Company believes that recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements will not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows or do not apply to the Company’s operations.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) (“ASU 2019-12”): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes. The amendments simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing
intraperiod allocation and calculating income taxes in interim periods. The ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including
recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to members of a consolidated group ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in interim or annual periods for which
financial statements have not yet been issued. This standard will be effective for the Company in the first quarter of its fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this update will have on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity
expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer;
(ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The Company only applies the five-step model to
contracts when it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. At
contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each
contract, determines those that are performance obligations and assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as
revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.
Sales, value add, and other taxes collected on behalf of third parties are excluded from revenue.

Product sales, net — The Company sells YUTIQ and DEXYCU to a limited number of specialty distributors and specialty pharmacies (collectively
the “Distributors”) in the U.S., with whom the Company has entered into formal agreements, for delivery to physician practices for YUTIQ and to hospital
outpatient departments and ambulatory surgical centers for DEXYCU. The Company recognizes revenue on sales of its products when Distributors obtain
control of the products, which occurs at a point in time, typically upon delivery. In addition to agreements with Distributors, the Company also enters into
arrangements with healthcare providers, ambulatory surgical centers, and payors that provide for government mandated and/or privately negotiated rebates,
chargebacks, and discounts with respect to their purchase of the Company’s products from Distributors.

Reserves for variable consideration — Product sales are recorded at the wholesale acquisition costs, net of applicable reserves for variable
consideration. Components of variable consideration include trade discounts and allowances, provider chargebacks and discounts, payor rebates, product
returns, and other allowances that are offered within contracts between the Company and its Distributors, payors, and other contracted purchasers relating to
the Company’s product sales. These reserves, as detailed below, are based on the amounts earned, or to be claimed on the related sales, and are classified either
as reductions of product revenue and accounts receivable or a current liability, depending on how the amount is to be settled. Overall, these reserves reflect the
Company’s best estimates of the amount of consideration to which it is entitled based on the terms of the respective underlying contracts.  Actual amounts of
consideration ultimately received may differ from the Company’s estimates. If actual results in the future vary from the estimates, the Company adjusts these
estimates, which would affect product revenue and earnings in the period such variances become known.
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Distribution fees — The Company compensates its Distributors for services explicitly stated in the Company’s contracts and are recorded as a
reduction of revenue in the period the related product sale is recognized.

Provider chargebacks and discounts — Chargebacks are discounts that represent the estimated obligations resulting from contractual commitments to
sell products at prices lower than the list prices charged to the Company’s Distributors. These Distributors charge the Company for the difference between
what they pay for the product and the Company’s contracted selling price. These reserves are established in the same period that the related revenue is
recognized, resulting in a reduction of product revenue and the establishment of a current liability.  Reserves for chargebacks consist of amounts that the
Company expects to pay for units that remain in the distribution channel inventories at each reporting period-end that the Company expects will be sold under
a contracted selling price, and chargebacks that Distributors have claimed, but for which the Company has not yet settled.

Government rebates — The Company is subject to discount obligations under state Medicaid programs and Medicare. These reserves are recorded in
the same period the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction of product revenue and the establishment of a current liability which is included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s liability for these rebates consists of invoices
received for claims from prior quarters that have not been paid or for which an invoice has not yet been received, estimates of claims for the current quarter,
and estimated future claims that will be made for product that has been recognized as revenue, but which remains in the distribution channel inventories at the
end of each reporting period.

Payor rebates — The Company contracts with certain private payor organizations, primarily insurance companies, for the payment of rebates with
respect to utilization of its products. The Company estimates these rebates and records such estimates in the same period the related revenue is recognized,
resulting in a reduction of product revenue and the establishment of a current liability.

Co-Payment assistance — The Company offers co-payment assistance to commercially insured patients meeting certain eligibility requirements. The
calculation of the accrual for co-pay assistance is based on an estimate of claims and the cost per claim that the Company expects to receive associated with
product that has been recognized as revenue.

Product returns — The Company generally offers a limited right of return based on its returned goods policy, which includes damaged product and
remaining shelf life. The Company estimates the amount of its product sales that may be returned and records this estimate as a reduction of revenue in the
period the related product revenue is recognized, as well as reductions to trade receivables, net on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

License and collaboration agreement revenue — The Company analyzes each element of its license and collaboration arrangements to determine the
appropriate revenue recognition. The terms of the license agreement may include payment to the Company of non-refundable up-front license fees, milestone
payments if specified objectives are achieved, and/or royalties on product sales. The Company recognizes revenue from upfront payments at a point in time,
typically upon fulfilling the delivery of the associated intellectual property to the customer.

If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation. Contracts that
contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price based on the estimated relative standalone selling prices of the promised
products or services underlying each performance obligation. The Company determines standalone selling prices based on the price at which the performance
obligation is sold separately. If the standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price
taking into account available information such as market conditions and internally approved pricing guidelines related to the performance obligations.

The Company recognizes sales-based milestone payments as revenue upon the achievement of the cumulative sales amount specified in the contract in
accordance with ASC 606-10-55-65. For those milestone payments which are contingent on the occurrence of particular future events, the Company
determines that these need to be considered for inclusion in the calculation of total consideration from the contract as a component of variable consideration
using the most-likely amount method. As such, the Company assesses each milestone to determine the probability and substance behind achieving each
milestone. Given the inherent uncertainty associated with these future events, the Company will not recognize revenue from such milestones until there is a
high probability of occurrence, which typically occurs near or upon achievement of the event.

When determining the transaction price of a contract, an adjustment is made if payment from a customer occurs either significantly before or
significantly after performance, resulting in a significant financing component. Applying the practical expedient in paragraph 606-10-32-18, the Company
does not assess whether a significant financing component exists if the period between when the Company performs its obligations under the contract and
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when the customer pays is one year or less. None of the Company’s contracts contained a significant financing component as of September 30, 2020.

Royalties — The Company recognizes revenue from license arrangements with its commercial partners’ net sales of products. Such revenues are
included as royalty income. In accordance with ASC 606-10-55-65, royalties are recognized when the subsequent sale of the commercial partner’s products
occurs. The Company’s commercial partners are obligated to report their net product sales and the resulting royalty due to the Company typically within
60 days from the end of each quarter. Based on historical product sales, royalty receipts and other relevant information, the Company recognizes royalty
income each quarter and subsequently determines a true-up when it receives royalty reports and payment from its commercial partners. Historically, these true-
up adjustments have been immaterial.

Research Collaborations— The Company recognizes revenue over the term of the statements of work under any funded research collaborations
(including feasibility study agreements). Revenue recognition for consideration, if any, related to a license option right is assessed based on the terms of any
such future license agreement or is otherwise recognized at the completion of the research collaborations (including feasibility study agreements).

Please refer to Note 3 for further details on the license and collaboration agreements into which the Company has entered and corresponding amounts
of revenue recognized during the current and prior year periods.

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets — Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets, consist of
costs associated with the manufacture of YUTIQ and DEXYCU, certain period costs for DEXYCU product revenue, product shipping and, as applicable,
royalty expense. The inventory costs for YUTIQ include purchases of various components, the active pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”) and direct labor and
overhead for the product manufactured in the Company’s Watertown, MA facility. The inventory costs for DEXYCU include purchased components, the API
and third-party manufacturing and assembly. Capitalization of inventory costs begins after FDA approval of a product. Prior thereto, inventory costs of
products and product candidates are recorded as research and development expense, even if this inventory may later be sold as commercial product.

The Company accrued DEXYCU product revenue-based royalty expense of $1.2 million and $97,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, respectively, and $1.9 million and $195,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, as a component of cost of sales.
$908,000 and $1.3 million of accrued revenue-based royalty expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 were related to the
partnering income in connection with the acquisition of Icon Bioscience, Inc. in March 2018.

3. Revenue
 
Product Revenue Reserves and Allowances

The Company’s product revenues have been primarily from sales of YUTIQ and DEXYCU in the U.S., which it began shipping to its customers in
February 2019 and March 2019, respectively.

Net product revenues by product for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were as follows (in
thousands):

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2020   2019   2020   2019  

YUTIQ  $ 3,466  $ 55  $ 9,920  $ 7,303 
DEXYCU   2,292   954   4,231   1,638 
Total product sales, net  $ 5,758  $ 1,009  $ 14,151  $ 8,941
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The following table summarizes activity in each of the product revenue allowance and reserve categories for the nine months ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively (in thousands):

 

  
Chargebacks,

Discounts   
Government
and Other          

  and Fees   Rebates   Returns   Total  
Beginning balance at January 1, 2020  $ 1,618  $ 271  $ 352  $ 2,241 

Provision related to sales in the current year   1,464   479   690   2,633 
Adjustments related to prior period sales   (387)   —   50   (337)
Deductions applied and payments made   (1,899)   (400)   (523)   (2,822)

Ending balance at September 30, 2020  $ 796  $ 350  $ 569  $ 1,715 
                 

  
Chargebacks,

Discounts   
Government
and Other          

  and Fees   Rebates   Returns   Total  
Beginning balance at January 1, 2019  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Provision related to sales in the current year   833   161   367   1,361 
Adjustments related to prior period sales   —   —   —   — 
Deductions applied and payments made   (178)   (105)   (171)   (454)

Ending balance at September 30, 2019  $ 655  $ 56  $ 196  $ 907
 

 
Returns are recorded as a reduction of accounts receivable on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Chargebacks, discounts and fees and rebates

are recorded as a component of accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheets (See Note 6).
 

License and Collaboration Agreements and Royalty Income

Alimera

Pursuant to a licensing and development agreement, as amended, Alimera Sciences, Inc. has a worldwide exclusive license to make and sell ILUVIEN
in return for royalties based on sales and patent fee reimbursements. Royalty income was $402,000 and $446,000 for the three months ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively, and $1.6 million and $1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Total revenue was $437,000 and $475,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $1.6 million and $1.5 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Ocumension Therapeutics

In November 2018, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Ocumension Therapeutics (“Ocumension”) for the development
and commercialization of its three-year micro insert using the Durasert technology for the treatment of chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior
segment of the eye (YUTIQ in the U.S.) in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. The Company received a one-time upfront payment of
$1.75 million from Ocumension and is eligible to receive up to (i) $7.25 million upon the achievement by Ocumension of certain prescribed development and
regulatory milestones, and (ii) $3.0 million commercial sales-based milestones. In addition, the Company is entitled to receive mid-single digit sales-based
royalties. Ocumension has also received a special approval by the Hainan Province People's Government to market this product for chronic, non-infectious
posterior segment uveitis in the Hainan Bo Ao Lecheng International Medical Tourism Pilot Zone (“Hainan Pilot Zone”). In March 2019, the Company
entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“2019 MOU”), pursuant to which, the Company will supply product for the clinical trials and Hainan Pilot
Zone use. Paralleling to Ocumension’s normal registration process of the product with the Chinese Regulatory Authorities, the 2019 MOU modified the
Company’s entitlement to the development and regulatory milestones of up to $7.25 million under the license agreement to product supply milestones or
development milestones, whichever comes first, totaling up to $7.25 million. In August 2019, the Company began shipping this product to Ocumension.

The Company was required to provide a fixed number of hours of technical assistance support to Ocumension at no cost, which support has been
completed and no future performance obligation exists. Ocumension is responsible for all development, regulatory and commercial costs, including any
additional technical assistance
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requested. Ocumension has a first right of negotiation for an additional exclusive license to the Company’s shorter-duration line extension candidate for this
indication.

In August 2019, the Company received a $1.0 million development milestone payment from Ocumension triggered by the approval of its
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) in China for this program. The IND allows the importation of finished product into China for use in a clinical trial to
support regulatory filing.

In January 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Ocumension for the development and commercialization in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan of DEXYCU for the treatment of post-operative inflammation following ocular surgery. Pursuant to the terms of the
license agreement, the Company received upfront payments of $2.0 million from Ocumension in February 2020 and will be eligible to receive up to (i) $6.0
million upon the achievement by Ocumension of certain prescribed development and regulatory milestones, and (ii) $6.0 million commercial sales-based
milestones. In addition, the Company is entitled to receive mid-single digit sales-based royalties. In exchange, Ocumension will receive exclusive rights to
develop and commercialize DEXYCU in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, at its own cost and expense with the Company supplying product
for clinical trials and commercial sale. In addition, Ocumension will receive a fixed number of hours of technical assistance support from the Company at no
cost.

In August 2020, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“2020 MOU”), pursuant to which, the Company received a one-time
non-refundable payment of $9.5 million (the “Accelerated Milestone Payment”) from Ocumension as a full and final payment of the combined remaining
development, regulatory and sales milestone payments under the Company’s license agreements with Ocumension for the treatment of chronic non-infectious
uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye and for the treatment of post-operative inflammation following ocular surgery, respectively. Upon payment of
the Accelerated Milestone Payment, the remaining $11.75 million in combined remaining development and sales milestone payments under the Company’s
original license agreement with Ocumension upon the achievement by Ocumension of (i) remaining development and regulatory milestones of $6.25 million
and commercial sales-based milestones of $3.0 million for the development and commercialization of its three-year micro insert using the Durasert technology
for the treatment of chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye; and (ii) $6.0 million upon the achievement by Ocumension of
certain prescribed development and regulatory milestones, and $6.0 million commercial sales-based milestones for the development and commercialization in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan of DEXYCU for the treatment of post-operative inflammation following ocular surgery, totaling up to
$21.25 million, were permanently extinguished and will no longer be due and owed to the Company. In exchange, Ocumension also received exclusive rights
to develop and commercialize YUTIQ and DEXYCU products under its own brand names in South Korea and other jurisdictions across Southeast Asia in
Brunei, Burma (Myanmar), Cambodia, Timor-Leste, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam, at its own cost and expense
with the Company supplying product for clinical trials and commercial sale.

Other than a fixed number of hours of technical assistance support to be provided at no cost by the Company, Ocumension is responsible for all
development, regulatory and commercial costs, including any additional technical assistance requested. During the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, the Company recognized $9.5 million and approximately $11.5 million of license and collaboration revenue, respectively. As of September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, no deferred revenue was recorded for this agreement, respectively.

The Company recorded sales-based royalty expense of $908,000 and $1.3 million, respectively, during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, with respect to partnering income equal to 20% of DEXYCU share of the Accelerated Milestone Payment received in August 2020 and upfront payment
received in February 2020 from Ocumension, in connection with the Icon acquisition in March 2018.

 Research Collaborations

The Company from time to time enters into funded agreements to evaluate the potential use of its technology for sustained release of third-party drug
candidates in the treatment of various diseases or conditions. Consideration received is generally recognized as revenue over the term of the research
collaborations (including feasibility study agreements). Revenue recognition for consideration, if any, related to a license option right is assessed based on the
terms of any such future license agreement or is otherwise recognized at the completion of the research collaborations (including feasibility study
agreements).  Revenue under research collaborations (including feasibility study agreements) was $0 and $25,000 for the three months ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively, and $15,000 and $25,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. At September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, $300,000 and $15,000 deferred revenue was recorded for the research collaborations (including feasibility study agreements),
respectively.
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4. Inventory
 
Inventory consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  
September 30,

2020   
December 31,

2019  
Raw materials  $ 776  $ 1,476 
Work in process   1,058   346 
Finished goods   1,808   316 
Total inventory  $ 3,642  $ 2,138

 

 
5. Intangible Assets

The reconciliation of intangible assets for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thousands):
 

  September 30,   September 30,  
  2020   2019  

Patented technologies         
Gross carrying cost at beginning of period  $ 68,322  $ 68,322 
Gross carrying cost at end of period   68,322   68,322 
Accumulated amortization at beginning of period   (40,653)   (38,193)
Amortization expense   (1,845)   (1,845)
Accumulated amortization at end of period   (42,498)   (40,038)
Net book value at end of period  $ 25,824  $ 28,284

 

 
The Company amortizes intangible assets with finite lives on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives. Amortization of

intangible assets totaled $615,000 and $1.8 million for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  

In connection with the Icon Acquisition in March 2018, the initial purchase price was attributed to the DEXYCU product intangible asset. This finite-
lived intangible asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its expected remaining useful life of 10.5 years at the rate of approximately $2.5 million
per year. Amortization expense was reported as a component of cost of sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):
 

  September 30,   December 31,  
  2020   2019  

Personnel costs  $ 3,463  $ 3,263 
Sales chargebacks, rebates and other revenue reserves   1,146   1,889 
Professional fees   739   700 
Clinical trial costs   —   345 
Accrued restructuring charges   270   — 
Other   1,227   635 
  $ 6,845  $ 6,832
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7. Leases

On May 17, 2018, the Company amended the lease for its headquarters in Watertown, Massachusetts. The original five-year lease for approximately
13,650 square feet of combined office and laboratory space was set to expire in April 2019. Under the amendment, the Company leased an additional 6,590
square feet of rentable area of the building, with a commencement date of September 10, 2018. The amendment extended the term of the lease for the
combined space through May 31, 2025. The landlord agreed to provide the Company a construction allowance of up to $670,750 to be applied toward the
aggregate work completed on the total space. The Company has an option to further extend the term of the lease for one additional five-year period. Per the
terms of the lease agreement, the Company does not have a residual value guarantee. The Company previously provided a cash-collateralized $150,000
irrevocable standby letter of credit as security for the Company’s obligations under the lease, which was extended through the period that is four months
beyond the expiration date of the amended lease. The Company will also be required to pay its proportionate share of certain operating costs and property
taxes applicable to the leased premises in excess of new base year amounts.

In July 2017, the Company leased approximately 3,000 square feet of office space in Basking Ridge, New Jersey under a lease term extending through
June 2022, with two five-year renewal options at 95% of the then-prevailing market rates. In addition to base rent, the Company is obligated to pay its
proportionate share of building operating expenses and real estate taxes in excess of base year amounts. In June 2018, the Company subleased an additional
1,381 square feet of adjoining space from Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. (“Caladrius”) through May 2022. The Chief Executive Officer of Caladrius was a
director of the Company through June 2020. Per the terms of the lease and sublease agreements, the Company does not have any residual value guarantees.

The Company identified and assessed the following significant assumptions in recognizing its right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and corresponding lease
liabilities:

 • As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company estimated the incremental borrowing rate in calculating the present value
of the lease payments. The Company utilized the borrowing rate under its existing 5-year term loan facility (see Note 8) as the discount rate.

 • Since the Company elected to account for each lease component and its associated non-lease components as a single combined component, all
contract consideration was allocated to the combined lease component.

 • The expected lease terms include noncancelable lease periods. Renewal option periods have not been included in the determination of the lease
terms as they are not deemed reasonably certain of exercise.

 • Variable lease payments, such as common area maintenance, real estate taxes and property insurance are not included in the determination of the
lease’s ROU asset or lease liability.

As of September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining term of the Company’s operating leases was 4.5 years and the lease liabilities arising from
obtaining ROU assets reflect a weighted average discount rate of 12.5%.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):
 September 30,   December 31,  
 2020   2019  
Other current liabilities - operating lease current
portion $ 545  $ 481 
Operating lease liabilities – noncurrent portion  2,483   2,898 
Total operating lease liabilities $ 3,028  $ 3,379 
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Operating lease expense recognized was $213,000 related to ROU assets, excluding $9,000 of variable lease costs, during each of the three months
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $640,000 related to ROU assets,  excluding $27,000 of variable lease costs, during each of the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and were included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s statement of
comprehensive loss. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities were $216,000 and $210,000 for the three months ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, and $646,000 and $593,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
The Company is a party to a finance lease for laboratory equipment. The equipment lease expires on December 18, 2021.
 
Supplemental balance sheet information related to the finance lease as of September 30, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

 
 September 30,  
 2020  

Property and equipment, at cost $ 100 
Accumulated amortization  (39)
Property and equipment, net $ 61 
    
Other current liabilities – finance lease current portion $ 52 
Other long-term liabilities  12 
Total finance lease liabilities $ 64

 

 
The components of finance lease expense recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 related to ROU assets were $13,000

and $39,000, respectively. Interest on lease liabilities were $2,000 and $7,000, respectively, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. Cash
paid for amounts included in the measurement of finance lease liabilities were operating cash flows of $2,000 and $7,000 during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020, and financing cash flows of $15,000 and $35,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. The Company has
no finance lease in 2019.

 
As of September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining term of the Company’s finance lease was 1.2 years and the lease liabilities arising from

obtaining ROU assets reflect a weighted average discount rate of 12.5%.  

The Company’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases at September 30, 2020 were as follows (in thousands):
 

 Operating
Leases  

 
Finance Leases  

Remainder of 2020 $ 221  $ 14 
2021  889   55 
2022  849   — 
2023  815   — 
2024 and beyond  1,176   — 
Total lease payments $ 3,950  $ 69 
Less imputed interest  (922)   (5)
Total $ 3,028  $ 64
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8. Term Loan Agreements

Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On April 8, 2020, the Company applied to Silicon Valley Bank (the “SVB”) for a Paycheck Protection Program Loan (the “PPP Loan”) of $2.0 million
that is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”), under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES
Act”). On April 22, 2020, the PPP Loan was approved and the Company received the PPP Loan proceeds.

The PPP Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.0% per annum and has a two-year term that matures on April 21, 2022. Monthly principal and interest
payments will commence on November 21, 2020. The PPP Loan may be forgiven partially or fully if the PPP Loan proceeds are used for covered payroll
costs, rent and utility costs and the maintenance of employee and compensation levels.

The Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020 (the “PPP Flexibility Act”), enacted on June 5, 2020, amended the Paycheck Protection
Program, among others, as follows: (i) extended the covered period from 8 weeks to the earlier of 24 weeks from the date the PPP Loan is originated and
December 31, 2020, during which PPP funds needed to be expended in order to be forgiven. A borrower may submit a loan forgiveness application any time
on or before the maturity date of the loan – including before the end of the covered period – if the borrower has used all of the loan proceeds for which the
borrower is requesting forgiveness; (ii) at least 60% of PPP funds must be spent on payroll costs, with the remaining 40% available to spend on other eligible
expenses; (iii) payments are deferred until the date on which the amount of forgiveness determined is remitted to the lender. If a borrower fails to seek
forgiveness within 10 months after the last day of its covered period, then payments will begin on the date that is 10 months after the last day of the covered
period. In addition, the PPP Flexibility Act modified the CARES Act by increasing the maturity date for loans made after the effective date from two years to a
minimum maturity of five years from the date on which the borrower applies for loan forgiveness. Existing PPP loans made before the new legislation retain
their original two-year term, but may be renegotiated between a lender and a borrower to match the 5-year term permitted under the PPP Flexibility Act.

The Company used all of the loan proceeds from the PPP Loan to pay expenses during the covered period that the Company believes were for eligible
purposes. On September 25, 2020, the Company submitted an application to SVB for full loan forgiveness. No assurance is provided that the Company will
obtain forgiveness of the PPP Loan in whole or in part. As of the date of this filing, the application for the PPP Loan forgiveness is still pending review.

The PPP Loan proceeds of $2.0 million were recorded as a loan in accordance with ASC 470, Debt, and included in long-term debt in the Company’s
balance sheet as of September 30, 2020. Accrued interest expense based on the stated interest rate of 1% per annum was $5,000 and $9,000 for the three
months and year-to-date ended September 30, 2020.

CRG Term Loan Agreement

On February 13, 2019 (the “CRG Closing Date”), the Company entered into the CRG Loan Agreement among the Company, as borrower, CRG
Servicing LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent (the “Agent”), and the lenders party thereto from time to time (the “Lenders”), providing for a
senior secured term loan of up to $60 million (the “CRG Loan”). On the CRG Closing Date, $35 million of the CRG Loan was advanced (the “CRG Initial
Advance”). The Company utilized the proceeds from the CRG Initial Advance for the repayment in full of all outstanding obligations under its prior credit
agreement (the “SWK Credit Agreement”) with SWK Funding LLC (“SWK”). In April 2019, the Company exercised its option to borrow an additional $15
million of the CRG Loan (the “CRG Second Advance”). The Company did not draw any additional funds under the CRG Loan by the final draw deadline of
March 31, 2020.
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The CRG Loan is due and payable on December 31, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The CRG Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 12.5% per annum
payable in arrears on the last business day of each calendar quarter. The Company is required to make quarterly, interest only payments until the Maturity
Date. So long as no default has occurred and is continuing, the Company may elect on each applicable interest payment date to pay 2.5% of the 12.5% per
annum interest as Paid In-Kind (“PIK”), whereby such PIK amount would be added to the aggregate principal amount and accrue interest at 12.5% per annum.
Through September 30, 2020, total PIK amounts of $977,000 have been added to the principal balance of the CRG Loan. In addition, the Company is required
to pay an upfront fee of 1.5% of amounts borrowed under the CRG Loan (excluding any paid-in-kind amounts), which is payable as amounts are advanced
under the CRG Loan. The Company will also be required to pay an exit fee equal to 6% of (i) the aggregate principal amounts advanced and (ii) PIK amounts
issued, under the CRG Loan Agreement. In connection with the CRG Initial Advance, a 1.5% financing fee of $525,000 and an expense reimbursement of
$350,000 were deducted from the net borrowing proceeds. In connection with the CRG Second Advance, a 1.5% financing fee of $225,000 was deducted from
the net borrowing proceeds.

Upon the occurrence of a bankruptcy-related event of default, all amounts outstanding with respect to the CRG Loan become due and payable
immediately, and upon the occurrence of any other Event of Default (as defined in the CRG Loan Agreement), all or any amounts outstanding with respect to
the CRG Loan may become due and payable upon request of the Agent or majority Lenders. Subject to certain exceptions, the Company is required to make
mandatory prepayments of the CRG Loan with the proceeds of assets sales and in the event of a change of control of the Company. In addition, the Company
may make a voluntary prepayment of the CRG Loan, in whole or in part, at any time. All mandatory and voluntary prepayments of the CRG Loan are subject
to the payment of prepayment premiums as follows: (i) if prepayment occurs after December 31, 2019 and on or prior to December 31, 2020, 5% of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the CRG Loan being prepaid and (ii) if prepayment occurs after December 31, 2020 and on or prior to
December 31, 2021, an amount equal to 3% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the CRG Loan being prepaid. No prepayment premium is due on
any principal prepaid after December 31, 2021. Certain of the Company’s existing and future subsidiaries are guaranteeing the obligations of the Company
under the CRG Loan Agreement. The obligations of the Company under the CRG Loan Agreement and the guarantee of such obligations are secured by a
pledge of substantially all of the Company’s and the guarantors’ assets.

The CRG Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type, including limitations on our and our
subsidiaries’ abilities, among other things, to incur additional debt, grant or permit additional liens, make investments and acquisitions, merge or consolidate
with others, dispose of assets, pay dividends and distributions and enter into affiliate transactions, in each case, subject to certain exceptions. In addition, the
CRG Loan Agreement contains the following financial covenants requiring the Company and the Guarantors to maintain:

 • liquidity in an amount which shall exceed the greater of (i) $5 million and (ii) to the extent the Company has incurred certain permitted debt, the
minimum cash balance, if any, required of the Company by the creditors of such permitted debt; and

 • annual minimum product revenue from YUTIQ and DEXYCU: (i) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2019 and ending on
December 31, 2019, of at least $15 million, (ii) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2020 and ending on December 31, 2020, of
at least $45 million, (iii) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021, of at least $80 million
and (iv) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2022, of at least $90 million.

 
In November 2019, CRG waived the financial covenant associated with the Company’s revenue derived from sales of its products, DEXYCU and

YUTIQ, for the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2019. In October 2020, CRG (i) waived the financial covenant associated with the Company’s
revenue derived from sales of its products, DEXYCU and YUTIQ, for the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2020 and (ii) amended the financial
covenant associated with the Company’s minimum product revenue to $45 million from $80 million, for the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2021.
There were no other material changes to the Loan Agreement and the Company incurred no incremental charges for the issuance of the waivers.

 
The total debt discount related to the CRG Loan was approximately $4.3 million and consisted of (i) the accrual of a $3.0 million exit fee; (ii) the

$750,000 upfront fee; and (iii) $591,000 of legal and other transaction costs. This amount is being amortized as additional interest expense over the term of the
CRG Loan using the effective interest rate method.   
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Amortization of debt discount under the CRG Loan totaled $186,000 and $160,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, and $534,000 and $346,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

SWK Credit Agreement

On March 28, 2018(the “SWK Closing Date”), the Company entered into the SWK Credit Agreement among the Company, as borrower, SWK, as
agent, and the lenders party thereto from time to time, providing for a senior secured term loan of up to $20 million (the “SWK Loan”). On the SWK Closing
Date, $15 million of the SWK Loan was advanced (the “SWK Initial Advance”). The remaining $5 million of the SWK Loan was advanced on June 26, 2018
(the “SWK Additional Advance”).

In connection with the SWK Loan, the Company issued a warrant (the “SWK Warrant”) to the Agent to purchase (a) 409,091 shares of Common
Stock (the “Initial Advance Warrant Shares”) at an exercise price of $1.10 per share and (b) 77,721 shares of Common Stock (the “Additional Advance
Warrant Shares”) at an exercise price of $1.93 per share (see Note 10). The SWK Warrant is exercisable (i) with respect to the Initial Advance Warrant Shares,
any time on or after the SWK Closing Date until the close of business on the 7-year anniversary of the SWK Initial Advance and (ii) with respect to the
Additional Advance Warrant Shares, any time on or after the closing of the SWK Additional Advance until the close of business on the 7-year anniversary of
the SWK Additional Advance. The Agent may exercise the SWK Warrant on a cashless basis at any time. In the event the Agent exercises the SWK Warrant
on a cashless basis, the Company will not receive any proceeds.

The Additional Advance Warrant Shares were recorded as a liability at the Closing Date and were remeasured at fair value at each reporting period
until the date of the SWK Additional Advance. The aggregate fair value of the Additional Advance Warrant Shares at the Closing Date was $69,000. The
Initial Advance Warrant Shares were recorded as equity on the Company’s balance sheet at their relative fair value of $284,000. The remaining $14.6 million
of the proceeds received were allocated to the SWK Initial Advance term loan. Upon the closing of the SWK Additional Advance in June 2018, the Additional
Advance Warrant Shares were re-valued at $87,000 and reclassified to equity.

The total debt discount related to the SWK Initial Advance was $2.1 million and was comprised of (1) $1.8 million, which included a 1.5% upfront
fee, a 6% exit fee (the “Exit Fee”) and legal and other transaction costs, which were ratably allocated to each of the two tranches of the SWK Loan based upon
the total principal amount available to the Company under each tranche and (2) $353,000 related to the aggregate fair value of the Initial Advance Warrant
Shares and the Additional Advance Warrant Shares. This amount was being amortized as additional interest expense over the term of the SWK Loan using the
effective interest rate method.

The total debt issue costs related to the SWK Additional Advance was $299,000 and was comprised of the allocated portions of the 1.5% upfront fee
and the Exit Fee.  This amount was recorded as a prepaid expense to be amortized ratably from the SWK Closing Date through December 31, 2018. Through
the date of the SWK Additional Advance, $97,000 was amortized and the remaining balance of $202,000 was reclassified to debt discount in June 2018.
Together with the 6% Exit Fee on the SWK Additional Advance and other transaction costs, total debt discount of $652,000 associated with the SWK
Additional Advance was to be amortized over the remaining life of the SWK Additional Advance portion of the SWK Loan using the effective interest rate
method.

The SWK Loan was originally scheduled to mature on March 27, 2023 and bore interest at a per annum rate of the three-month LIBOR rate (subject to
a 1.5% floor) plus 10.50%.  On February 13, 2019, the Company repaid the SWK Loan in connection with the consummation of the CRG Loan Agreement. In
addition to repayment of the $20 million principal balance, the Company paid (i) a $1.2 million prepayment penalty, (ii) the $1.2 million Exit Fee, (iii) accrued
and unpaid interest of $664,000 through that date and (iv) an additional make-whole interest payment of $306,000 covering the additional period through what
would have been the first anniversary of the SWK Loan. In connection with the prepayment of the SWK Loan, the Company recorded a loss on
extinguishment of debt of $3.8 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019. In addition to the prepayment penalty and make-whole interest payment
amounts, the loss on extinguishment of debt included the write-off of the remaining balance of unamortized debt discount of approximately $2.3 million.

Amortization of debt discount under the SWK Loan totaled $84,000 in the first quarter of 2019 through the SWK loan extinguishment date.
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9. Stockholders’ Equity

2020 Equity Financing

ATM Facility

In August 2020, the Company entered into an at-the-market facility (the “ATM Facility”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co (“Cantor”). Pursuant to the
ATM Facility, under a Form S-3 shelf registration statement that was declared effective by the SEC in December 2018, the Company may, at its option, offer
and sell shares of its Common Stock from time to time for an aggregate offering price of up to $25.0 million. The Company will pay Cantor a commission of
3.0% of the gross proceeds from any future sales of such shares.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company sold 6,029,465 shares of its Common Stock at a weighted average price of
$0.81 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $4.9 million. Share issue costs, including sales agent commissions, totaled $250,000 during the reporting
period.

Share Offering

In February 2020, the Company sold 15,000,000 shares of common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $1.45 per share for gross
proceeds of $21.75 million. Underwriter discounts and commissions and other share issue costs totaled approximately $1.8 million.

At the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) held on June 23, 2020, the Company’s stockholders approved the adoption of an
amendment to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, to increase the number of authorized shares of its Common Stock from 150,000,000 shares to
300,000,000 shares. The Company filed the Certificate of Amendment on June 23, 2020.

2019 Equity Financing

ATM Facility

In January 2019, the Company entered into an at-the-market program (the “ATM Program”) with B. Riley FBR Inc. Pursuant to the ATM Program,
under a Form S-3 shelf registration statement that was declared effective by the SEC in December 2018, the Company may, at its option, offer and sell shares
of its Common Stock from time to time for an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 million. The Company will pay the sales agent a commission of up to
3.0% of the gross proceeds from any future sales of such shares. On July 30, 2020, the Company notified B. Riley FBR Inc. that it was terminating the ATM
Program in accordance with its terms, effective as of August 4, 2020.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company sold 1,707,995 shares of its Common Stock at a weighted average price of
$1.50 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $2.6 million. Share issue costs, including sales agent commissions, totaled $151,000 during the reporting
period. 

Share Offering

In April 2019, the Company sold 10,526,500 shares of common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $1.90 per share for gross
proceeds of $20.0 million. Underwriter discounts and commissions and other share issue costs totaled approximately $1.7 million.
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Warrants to Purchase Common Shares

The following table provides a reconciliation of fixed price warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively:
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2020   2019  
      Weighted       Weighted  
      Average       Average  
  Number of   Exercise   Number of   Exercise  
  Warrants   Price   Warrants   Price  

Balance at beginning of period   486,812  $ 1.23   486,812  $ 1.23 
Expired   —   —   —   — 
Balance and exercisable at end of period   486,812  $ 1.23   486,812  $ 1.23

 

 
Pursuant to a credit agreement, the Company issued the SWK Warrant to purchase (i) 409,091 Initial Advance Warrant Shares on March 28, 2018 at

an exercise price of $1.10 per share with a seven-year term and (ii) 77,721 Additional Advance Warrant Shares on June 26, 2018 at an exercise price of $1.93
per share with a seven-year term. At September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining life of the warrants was approximately 4.53 years.
 
10. Share-Based Payment Awards

Equity Incentive Plan

The 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), approved by the Company’s stockholders on December 12, 2016 (the “Adoption Date”),
provides for the issuance of up to 3,000,000 shares of  the Company’s Common Stock reserved for issuance under the 2016 Plan plus any additional shares of
the Company’s Common Stock that were available for grant under the 2008 Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”) at the Adoption Date or would otherwise become
available for grant under the 2008 Plan as a result of subsequent termination or forfeiture of awards under the 2008 Plan. At the Company’s Annual Meeting of
Stockholders held on June 25, 2019, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2016 Plan to increase the number of shares authorized for
issuance by 11,000,000 shares. At September 30, 2020, a total of approximately 6,140,153 million shares were available for new awards.

Certain inducement awards, although not awarded under the 2016 Plan or the 2008 Plan, are subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of
the 2016 Plan or 2008 Plan, as applicable.

Stock Options

The following table provides a reconciliation of stock option activity under the Company’s equity incentive plans and for inducement awards for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020:
 

          Weighted      
      Weighted   Average      
      Average   Remaining   Aggregate  
  Number   Exercise   Contractual   Intrinsic  
  of Options   Price   Life   Value  
          (in years)   (in thousands)  

Outstanding at January 1, 2020   10,909,800  $ 2.52         
Granted   3,971,397   1.24         
Exercised   —   —         
Forfeited   (592,353)   1.79         
Expired   (967,875)   3.44         
Outstanding at September 30, 2020   13,320,969  $ 2.10   7.66  $ — 
Exercisable at September 30, 2020   6,369,131  $ 2.60   6.75  $ —
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In January 2019, the Company expanded the terms of its annual stock option grants to include vesting ratable monthly over four years, or with 25%
vesting after one year followed by ratable monthly vesting over three years. Previously, the Company’s option grants generally had ratable annual vesting over
three years, or 1-year cliff vesting. Nonemployee awards are granted similar to the Company’s employee awards. All option grants have a 10-year term.
Options to purchase a total of 2,169,834 shares of the Company’s Common Stock vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

In determining the grant date fair value of option awards during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company applied the Black-Scholes
option pricing model based on the following key assumptions:
 

Option life (in years)  5.5-6.02  
Stock volatility  63.85%-69.65%  
Risk-free interest rate  0.371%-2.51%  
Expected dividends  0.0%

 

 
The following table summarizes information about employee, non-executive director and external consultant stock options for the nine months ended

September 30, 2020 (in thousands, except per share amount):
 

  
Nine Months

Ended  
  September 30, 2020  

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share  $ 0.73 
Total cash received from exercise of stock options   — 
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised   —

 

 
Time-Vested Restricted Stock Units

Time-vested restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs”) issued to date under the 2016 Plan generally vest on a ratable annual basis over 3 years. The related
stock-based compensation expense is recorded over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period. The fair value of all time-vested RSUs is based on
the closing share price of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant.

The following table provides a reconciliation of RSU activity under the 2016 Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2020:
 

      Weighted  
  Number of   Average  
  Restricted   Grant Date  
  Stock Units   Fair Value  

Nonvested at January 1, 2020   786,899  $ 1.83 
Granted   1,437,750   1.22 
Vested   (697,505)   1.53 
Forfeited   (92,467)   1.78 
Nonvested at September 30, 2020   1,434,677  $ 1.44

 

 
At September 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining vesting term of the RSUs was 0.95 years.

Deferred Stock Units

There were no non-vested deferred stock units (“DSUs”) issued and outstanding to the Company’s non-executive directors at each of September 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Each DSU vests one year from the date of grant. Subsequent to vesting, the DSUs will be settled in shares of the
Company’s Common Stock upon the earliest to occur of (i) each director’s termination of service on the Company’s Board of Directors and (ii) the occurrence
of a change of control as defined in the award agreement. At September 30, 2020, there were 25,834 vested DSUs that have not been settled in shares of the
Company’s Common Stock.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
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On June 25, 2019, the Company’s stockholders approved the adoption of the EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
“ESPP”) and authorized up to 1,100,000 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance to participating employees. The ESPP allows qualified participants to
purchase the Company’s Common Stock twice a year at 85% of the lesser of the average of the high and low sales price of the Company’s Common Stock on
(i) the first trading day of the relevant offering period and (ii) the last trading day of the relevant offering period. The number of shares of the Company’s
Common Stock each employee may purchase under this plan, when combined with all other employee stock purchase plans, is limited to the lower of an
aggregate fair market value of $25,000 during each calendar year, or 50,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock in any one offering period. The first six
month offering period under the ESPP began on August 1, 2019 and ended on January 31, 2020. As of September 30, 2020, 336,975 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock were issued pursuant to the ESPP.

The Company estimated the fair value of the option component of the ESPP shares at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes valuation model. During
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the compensation expense from ESPP shares was immaterial, respectively.  

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss included total compensation expense from stock-based payment awards for each of the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2020   2019   2020   2019  

Compensation expense included in:                 
Research and development  $ 881  $ 210  $ 1,096  $ 874 
Sales and marketing   331   189   724   512 
General and administrative   1,177   578   2,464   2,325 

  $ 2,389  $ 977  $ 4,284  $ 3,711
 

 
At September 30, 2020, there was approximately $4.1 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to outstanding equity awards under the

2016 Plan, the 2008 Plan, the inducement awards and the ESPP that is expected to be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of approximately
1.35 years.

11. In-License Agreement

Equinox Science, LLC

In February 2020, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Equinox Science, LLC (“Equinox”), pursuant to which Equinox
granted us an exclusive, sublicensable, royalty-bearing right and license to certain patents and other Equinox intellectual property to research, develop, make,
have made, use, sell, offer for sale and import the compound vorolanib and any pharmaceutical products comprising the compound for the prevention or
treatment of age-related macular degeneration, diabetic retinopathy and retinal vein occlusion using our proprietary localized delivery technologies, in each
case, throughout the world except China, Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau.

In consideration for the rights granted by Equinox, the Company (i) made a one time, non-refundable, non-creditable upfront cash payment of $1.0
million to Equinox in February 2020, and (ii) agreed to pay milestone payments totaling up to $50 million upon the achievement of certain development and
regulatory milestones, consisting of (a) completion of a Phase II clinical trial for the Compound or a Licensed Product, (b) the filing of a new drug application
or foreign equivalent for the Compound or a Licensed Product in the United States, European Union or United Kingdom and (c) regulatory approval of the
Compound or a Licensed Product in the United States, European Union or United Kingdom.

The Company also agreed to pay Equinox tiered royalties based upon annual net sales of Licensed Products in the Territory. The royalties are payable
with respect to a Licensed Product in a particular country in the Territory on a country-by-country and Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product basis until the
later of (i) twelve years after the first commercial sale of such Licensed Product in such country and (ii) the first day of the month following the month in
which a generic product corresponding to such Licensed Product is launched in such country (collectively,
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the “Royalty Term”). The royalty rates range from the high-single digits to low-double digits depending on the level of annual net sales. The royalty rates are
subject to reduction during certain periods when there is no valid patent claim that covers a Licensed Product in a particular country.

The Company recorded $0 and $1.0 million of R&D expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 for this license.

12. Restructuring Charges

Fiscal Year 2020 Restructuring Plan

On April 1, 2020, the Company committed to and announced a restructuring plan (the “Plan”) with regard to its commercial operations. The Plan is a
result of decline in product demand associated with shut-downs of customer facilities and postponements of elective surgical procedures in response to the
Pandemic. In connection with the Plan, the Company, among other things, downsized its current workforce, with reductions coming primarily from its external
DEXYCU sales force and supporting commercial operations, as cataract surgery is considered a non-essential procedure due to the Pandemic. The Company
recorded $0 and approximately $590,000 of external DEXYCU sales force personnel and employee severance for discretionary termination benefits during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, upon notification of the affected external DEXYCU sales force personnel and employees in accordance with
ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations. The charges of $590,000 were recognized in the Company’s operating results, of which $542,000 and $48,000
were included in sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, respectively. The Company expects the implementation of the Plan will
be substantially completed by the end of fiscal 2020.

 

  
Employee Severance and

Benefits   Total  
Beginning balance at March 31, 2020  $ —  $ — 

Restructuring charge   590   590 
Cash payments   (320)   (320)

Ending balance at September 30, 2020  $ 270  $ 270
 

 
13. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables summarize the Company’s assets carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis at September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019 by valuation hierarchy (in thousands):
 

  September 30, 2020  

      
Quoted
prices in   

Significant
other   Significant  

  
Total

Carrying   
active

markets   
observable

inputs   
unobservable

inputs  
Description  Value   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  
Assets:                 

Cash equivalents  $ 26,538  $ 26,538  $ —  $ — 
  $ 26,538  $ 26,538  $ —  $ —

 

 
  December 31, 2019  

      
Quoted
prices in   

Significant
other   Significant  

  
Total

Carrying   
active

markets   
observable

inputs   
unobservable

inputs  
Description  Value   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  
Assets:                 

Cash equivalents  $ 19,976  $ 19,976  $ —  $ — 
  $ 19,976  $ 19,976  $ —  $ —
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Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk have historically consisted principally of cash and cash
equivalents. At September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, substantially all of the Company’s interest-bearing cash equivalent balances were concentrated in
one U.S. Government institutional money market fund that has investments consisting primarily of U.S. Government Agency debt, U.S. Treasury Repurchase
Agreements and U.S. Government Agency Repurchase Agreements. These deposits may be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, generally have minimal
risk. The Company’s cash equivalents are classified within Level 1 on the basis of valuations using quoted market prices.   

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of their short-term maturity.

The fair value of the Company’s CRG Loan is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis based on market rates for observable similar
instruments as of the condensed consolidated balance sheet dates. Accordingly, the fair value of the CRG Loan is categorized as Level 2 within the fair value
hierarchy. The carrying value of the CRG Loan at September 30, 2020 was approximately $51.7 million, and consisted of $48.7 million of its carrying amount
as reported in long-term debt, and $3.0 million of debt exit fee as reported in other long-term liabilities of the condensed consolidated balance sheet,
respectively. The fair value of the CRG Loan was approximately $51.6 million at September 30, 2020. The fair value of the CRG Loan approximated its
carrying value at December 31, 2019.
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14. Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to various other routine legal proceedings and claims incidental to its business, which management believes will not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Subpoena

On May 14, 2020, the Company received a subpoena from the Division of Enforcement of the SEC seeking production of certain documents and
information on topics including product sales and demand, revenue recognition and accounting in relation to product sales, product sales and cash projections,
and related financial reporting, disclosure and compliance matters. The Company is cooperating fully in connection with this investigation. Based on
procedures performed to date in relation to the Company’s revenue recognition practices, the Company has not identified any accounting items that are not in
accordance with GAAP. At this time, the Company is unable to predict the duration, scope or outcome of this matter or whether it could have a material impact
on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

15. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For
periods in which the Company reports net income, diluted net income per share is determined by adding to the basic weighted average number of common
shares outstanding the total number of dilutive common equivalent shares using the treasury stock method, unless the effect is anti-dilutive. Potentially dilutive
shares were not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Potential common stock equivalents excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for each of the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, because the effect would have been anti-dilutive were as follows:
 

  
Three and Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2020   2019  

Stock options   13,320,969   10,612,258 
ESPP   104,303   54,895 
Warrants   486,812   486,812 
Restricted stock units   1,434,677   812,347 
Performance stock units   —   56,666 
   15,346,761   12,022,978

 

16. Subsequent Event

During October 2020, pursuant to the ATM Facility, the Company sold 12,093,492 shares of its Common Stock at a weighted average price of $0.49
per share for gross proceeds of approximately $5.9 million. Share issue costs, including sales agent commissions, totaled approximately $266,000.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Various statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking and involve risks and uncertainties. All statements that address
activities, events or developments that we intend, expect or believe may occur in the future are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Such statements give our current
expectations or forecasts of future events and are not statements of historical or current facts. These statements include, among others, statements about:

 
 • the extent to which our business, the medical community and the global economy will continue to be materially and adversely impacted by the

effects of the Pandemic or by other pandemics, epidemics or outbreaks;
 • the potential advantages of DEXYCU® and YUTIQ® for the treatment of eye diseases;
 • our ability to manufacture DEXYCU and YUTIQ, or any future products or product candidates in sufficient quantities and quality;
 • our continued commercialization of DEXYCU and YUTIQ;
 • our ability to further develop sales and marketing capabilities, whether alone or with potential future collaborators;
 • our expectations regarding the timing and clinical development of our product candidates, including EYP-1901 and YUTIQ50 ;
 • our expectations to avoid the toxicity seen in the prior clinical studies of orally delivered vorolanib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (“TKI”) by

delivering vorolanib locally using our bioerodible Durasert technology as EYP-1901 at a significantly lower total dose;
 • the potential for EYP-1901, as a single dose nine-month treatment for serious eye diseases including wet age-related macular degeneration

(“wAMD”), with potential in diabetic retinopathy (“DR”) and retinal vein occlusion (“RVO”);
 • our expectations regarding the timing and outcome of Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) toxicology studies for EYP-1901 to support the filing

of an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application with the FDA;
 • our expectations regarding the timing and results of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, investigation;
 • the potential for our PPP Loan to be forgiven in full;
 • our ability to regain compliance with the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market;
 • our ability to further develop sales and marketing capabilities, whether alone or with potential future collaborators;
 • our belief that our cash and cash equivalents of $28.7 million at September 30, 2020 and expected cash inflows under our product sales and

royalty agreements and ATM Facility, coupled with cash conservation activities will enable us to fund our current and planned operations into
2021;

 • our ability to obtain additional capital in sufficient amounts and on terms acceptable to us, and the consequences of failing to do so;
 • future expenses and capital expenditures;
 • our expectations regarding the timing and design of our clinical development plans;
 • our ability to establish or maintain collaborations and obtain milestone, royalty and/or other payments from any such collaborators;
 • the ability of Alimera Sciences, Inc., (“Alimera”), to commercialize ILUVIEN® for the treatment of non-infectious uveitis affecting the

posterior segment of the eye in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (the “EMEA”);
 • the implication of results from pre-clinical and clinical trials and our other research activities;
 • our intentions regarding our research into other uses and applications of our Durasert™ and Verisome® technologies;
 • our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and adequately maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for DEXYCU, YUTIQ, EYP-

1901 and YUTIQ50 and future product candidates, and to avoid claims of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights;
 • the scope and duration of intellectual property protection;
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 • our expectation that we will continue to incur significant expenses and that our operating losses and our net cash outflows to fund operations will
continue for the foreseeable future;

•the expected costs associated with termination benefits and the financial impact of the April 2020
restructuring Plan and reduction in force;

•our plans to allocate our remaining DEXYCU commercial resources to high-volume ASCs in key regions,
subject to the availability of such ASCs to perform elective cataract surgery upon the lifting of restrictions
associated with the  Pandemic; and

•the effect of legal and regulatory developments.

Forward-looking statements also include statements other than statements of current or historical fact, including, without limitation, all
statements  related to any expectations of revenues, expenses, cash flows, earnings or losses from operations, cash required to maintain current and planned
operations, capital or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations; any plans or
expectations with respect to product research, development and commercialization, including regulatory approvals; any other statements of expectations,
plans, intentions or beliefs; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. We often, although not always, identify forward-looking
statements by using words or phrases such as “likely”, “expect”, “intend”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “plan”, “project”, “forecast” and “outlook”.

The following are some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed,
anticipated or implied in our forward-looking statements: uncertainties with respect to: the continued impact of the  Pandemic on our business, the medical
community and the global economy; the impact of the workforce reduction on our operations; the sufficiency of the PPP Loan to support our operations for a
limited period of time; the duration, scope and outcome of the SEC investigation and its impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows; our ability to regain compliance with the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global market; the effectiveness and timeliness of our preclinical studies
and clinical trials, and the usefulness of the data; the timeliness of regulatory approval; our ability to achieve profitable operations and access to needed
capital; fluctuations in our operating results; our ability to successfully produce sufficient commercial quantities of YUTIQ and DEXYCU and to successfully
commercialize YUTIQ and DEXYCU in the U.S.; our ability to sustain and enhance an effective commercial infrastructure and enter into and maintain
commercial agreements for the commercialization of YUTIQ and DEXYCU; the regulatory approval and successful release of our YUTIQ line extension
shorter-duration treatment for non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye; potential off-label sales of ILUVIEN for non-infectious uveitis
affecting the posterior segment of the eye; consequences of fluocinolone acetonide side effects for YUTIQ; consequences of dexamethasone side effects for
DEXYCU; successful commercialization of, and receipt of revenues from, ILUVIEN for diabetic macular edema (“DME”); Alimera’s ability to obtain
additional marketing approvals and the effect of pricing and reimbursement decisions on sales of ILUVIEN for DME; Alimera’s ability to commercialize
ILUVIEN for non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye in its licensed territory; our ability to market and sell products; the success of
current and future license agreements; termination or breach of current license agreements; our dependence on contract research organizations, contract sales
organizations, vendors and investigators; effects of competition and other developments affecting sales of products; market acceptance of products; effects of
guidelines, recommendations and studies; protection of intellectual property and avoiding intellectual property infringement; retention of key personnel;
product liability; industry consolidation; compliance with environmental laws; manufacturing risks; risks and costs of international business operations;
volatility of stock price; possible dilution; absence of dividends; and other factors described in our filings with the SEC.  We cannot guarantee that the results
and other expectations expressed, anticipated or implied in any forward-looking statement will be realized. The risks set forth under Item 1A of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and the supplementary risks set forth under Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
describe major risks to our business, and you should read and interpret any forward-looking statements together with these risks. A variety of factors, including
these risks, could cause our actual results and other expectations to differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed, anticipated or
implied in our forward-looking statements. Should known or unknown risks materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results
could differ materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected in the forward-looking statements. You should bear this in mind as you
consider any forward-looking statements.

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the dates on which they are made. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise
our forward-looking statements even if experience or future changes makes it clear that any projected results expressed or implied in such statements will not
be realized.
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Our Business

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical company committed to developing and commercializing innovative ophthalmic products for the treatment of serious eye
diseases. We have two products that were approved by the United States (“U.S.”) Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in 2018 and commercially launched
in the U.S. during the first quarter of 2019.  We also are developing a pipeline of product candidates utilizing our proprietary Durasert technology.

YUTIQ® (fluocinolone acetonide intravitreal implant) 0.18 mg for intravitreal injection, was approved by the FDA in October 2018 and we
commercially launched YUTIQ in the U.S. in February 2019. YUTIQ is indicated for the treatment of chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior
segment of the eye, which affects between 60,000 to 100,000 people each year in the U.S., causes approximately 30,000 new cases of blindness every year and
is the third leading cause of blindness. YUTIQ is a non-erodible intravitreal implant containing 0.18 mg fluocinolone acetonide (“FA”), designed to release FA
at an initial rate of 0.25 mcg/day, and lasting for up to 36 months. Injected into the eye during a physician office visit, YUTIQ delivers a micro-dose of a
corticosteroid to the back of the eye on a sustained nearly constant (zero order release) basis. YUTIQ utilizes our proprietary Durasert® sustained-release drug
delivery technology that can deliver drugs for predetermined periods of time ranging from months to years.

DEXYCU® (dexamethasone intraocular suspension) 9%, for intraocular administration, was approved by the FDA in February 2018 for the treatment
of post-operative ocular inflammation and commercially launched in the U.S. in March 2019 with a primary focus on its use immediately following cataract
surgery. DEXYCU is administered as a single dose directly into the surgical site at the end of ocular surgery and is the first long-acting intraocular product
approved by the FDA for the treatment of post-operative inflammation. DEXYCU utilizes our proprietary Verisome® drug-delivery technology, which allows
for a single intraocular injection that releases dexamethasone, a corticosteroid, for up to 22 days. In 2018, there were approximately 3.8 million cataract
surgeries performed in the U.S.

EYP-1901 is being developed by the us as a potential 6-month intravitreal treatment for wet age-related macular degeneration (“wAMD”).  EYP-1901
utilizes our bioerodible Durasert technology combined with vorolanib, an anti-VEGF tyrosine kinase inhibitor (“TKI”).  Vorolanib has previously been studied
in human clinical trials as an orally delivered therapy. We completed initial animal pharmacokinetic and toxicology studies and initiated a GLP toxicology
study in March 2020 to support the anticipated filing of an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) application with the FDA by the end of 2020. A Phase 1 clinical
trial is expected to follow upon acceptance of the IND by the FDA.   We believe EYP-1901 has potential for additional indications in diabetic retinopathy
(“DR”) and retinal vein occlusion (“RVO”).

YUTIQ50 is being developed by us as a potential 6-month intravitreal treatment for chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of
the eye. We have consulted with the FDA and identified a clinical pathway for an sNDA filing that involves a clinical trial of a small study of patients,
randomized 2:1. We are currently evaluating the timeline and investment requirements for the initiation of this trial.

We are entitled to royalties pursuant to license and collaboration agreements utilizing our Durasert technology platform. These include ILUVIEN® for
the treatment of diabetic macular edema (“DME”), and pursuant to EMEA regulatory approval received in March 2019, ILUVIEN for uveitis, licensed to
Alimera Sciences, Inc. (“Alimera”).

We also earn revenues from research collaborations, license agreements and other arrangements, that include upfront fees, research funding and
development funding, milestone payments and royalties. These include license agreements and, from time to time, funded feasibility study agreements. These
agreements include (i) an exclusive license with OncoSil Medical Ltd for the development and commercialization of a product candidate for the treatment of
pancreatic cancer and (ii) exclusive license agreements with Ocumension Therapeutics (“Ocumension”) for the development and commercialization in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan of (a) our Durasert three-year treatment of non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye
and (b) DEXYCU, for the treatment of post-operative ocular inflammation . We also undertake research agreements with collaborators which include
formulation, clinical and non-clinical manufacturing and other pre-clinical studies designed to evaluate the
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use of our Durasert technology platform, or potentially in the future our Verisome technology platform, for the delivery of third-party proprietary compounds
for various eye diseases or other indications.

DEXYCU®, YUTIQ® and Durasert™ are our trademarks. Retisert® is Bausch & Lomb’s trademark. ILUVIEN® is Alimera’s trademark. Verisome®
is Ramscor, Inc.’s trademark. Information with respect to ILUVIEN, including regulatory and marketing information, and Alimera’s plans and intentions,
reflects information publicly disclosed by Alimera.

Recent Developments

 • Underlying customer demand and Distributor purchases by specialty distributors and specialty pharmacies (collectively, the “Distributors”) of both
products was negatively impacted during the second quarter of 2020 due to shut downs associated with the Pandemic in the U.S. Although a
modest return of customer demand began in June 2020, we expect these reduced demand levels to continue through the duration of the Pandemic
until restrictions on elective surgeries and office visits are fully removed.  

 • During the first quarter of 2020, public health authorities and government agencies including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
(CMS), recommended the postponement of all non-essential elective surgeries, including cataract surgery, for an extended period of time during
the Pandemic. As a result, ambulatory surgery centers (ASCs) closed or limited operations, decreasing DEXYCU product demand and orders. This
status continued into the second and third quarter of 2020 with some areas of the U.S. beginning to reopen.  With limited on-site access during the
Pandemic, our sales organization has maintained contact with customers during the Pandemic by providing virtual support and education with
regard to DEXYCU.  

 • Although many uveitis and retinal specialist offices remained open during the Pandemic, YUTIQ demand was reduced to mostly emergency cases
because chronic non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye can lead to blindness if left untreated. During the Pandemic, our
sales organization continued to call on such offices, though at a reduced frequency.

 • There have been no disruptions to the supply chains for YUTIQ and DEXYCU during the Pandemic and we continue to produce finished product
for commercial sale.

 • In April, we announced a reorganization of our commercial operations and the cancellation or deferral of planned spending to conserve cash due to
the impact of the Pandemic, particularly the postponement of nearly all elective surgeries including cataract surgery. This reorganization was
primarily focused on a reduction in the external contract sales organization for DEXYCU.  We plan to allocate our remaining DEXYCU
commercial resources to high-volume ASCs in key U.S. regions. The reorganization is expected to result in annual savings of approximately $7
million and one-time savings of approximately $10 million from other planned expenditure cancellations and deferrals.

 • In April 2020, we received a $2.0 million Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan through the Small Business Administration’s Paycheck
Protection Program (PPP) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the CARES Act). We expect the PPP loan will
enable us to retain key commercial infrastructure and employees and avoid furloughs as product demand and revenues remain significantly
reduced due to ASC and physician office closures necessitated by the Pandemic. We plan to use the proceeds of the PPP loan to cover payroll
costs, rent and utilities in accordance with the CARES Act and anticipate the loan will be fully forgiven.

 • In July 2020, we announced the appointment of Dr. Jay Duker as our Chief Strategic Scientific Officer.  Dr. Duker brings more than thirty years of
ophthalmology experience to EyePoint with roles held in the clinical, research, business, and academic settings. Dr. Duker is also the Director of
the New England Eye Center. He is also Professor and Chair of Ophthalmology at Tufts Medical Center and Tufts University School of Medicine,
as well as the Chairman of the Board of Sesen Bio, Inc., a publicly traded clinical stage biopharmaceutical company.

 • In August 2020, we announced the signing of a commercial alliance for the joint promotion of DEXYCU with ImprimixRx (Harrow Health).
Through this agreement, we are able to access the established and
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 complementary ImprimisRx commercial operations in cataract surgery to include DEXYCU as a prioritized product in its existing portfolio of
product offerings.

 • In August 2020, we received $9.5 million from Ocumension Therapeutics under the Memorandum of Understanding (“2020 MOU”).  This
payment grants Ocumension the rights to commercialize both DEXYCU and YUTIQ under their own brand names in South Korea and other
jurisdictions across Southeast Asia and acts as the full and final prepayment of all remaining development, regulatory, and commercial sale
milestone payments under the original license agreements.

 • In August 2020, we entered into a purchase and marketing agreement with Vantage Outsourcing for DEXYCU.  The agreement will enable
customers in the Vantage Outsourcing network, which spans over a 25+ state service area, to incorporate DEXYCU into their surgical protocols for
treating ocular inflammation associated with cataract surgery.

 • In October 2020, we announced an amendment to our existing debt facility with CRG Servicing LLC (CRG). Under the terms of the amendment,
CRG has waived the covenant associated with our net product revenue of DEXYCU and YUTIQ for the twelve-month period ending on December
31, 2020. The parties also agreed to a reduction of the December 31, 2021 net product revenue covenant to $45 million from $80 million based on
the promising recovery and return in customer demand for both products following COVID-19-related closures.  There were no additional costs
incurred by us for the waiver.

 

R&D Highlights
 
 • In March 2020, we initiated GLP toxicology studies for EYP-1901, a potential 6-month intravitreal treatment for wAMD, diabetic retinopathy and

retinal vein occlusion, all of which are disease indications representing attractive market opportunities in need of long-lasting treatments to
potentially save patient’s eyesight as current treatments require intensive eye injection regiments resulting in patients skipping these vital
treatments. We expect to file an IND with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the fourth quarter of 2020 with a Phase 1 clinical trial
expected to commence shortly thereafter.
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 • In May 2020, four abstracts highlighting data from our ongoing retrospective study of real-world use of DEXYCU were presented at the American
Society of Cataract and Refractive Surgery 2020 Virtual Annual Meeting. The data demonstrated DEXYCU’s early-acting anti-inflammatory
activity as measured by high levels of complete anterior chamber cell clearing and no anterior chamber flares at postoperative day 1, 8, 14 and 30.
DEXYCU also received high marks on the physician survey of product satisfaction, ease of use, efficacy compared to topic steroids and patient
satisfaction.

 • In June 2020, supportive data from the Phase 2 trial of orally delivered vorolanib, the TKI molecule in EYP-1901, conducted by Tyrogenex, Inc.
for the treatment of wAMD were published in the British Journal of Ophthalmology. Oral vorolanib demonstrated non-inferiority in visual acuity
compared to placebo with best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) stable through 12-months. The three oral vorolanib dose levels studied also
demonstrated a decreased intravitreal anti-VEGF injection burden and a longer time to first treatment as compared to placebo. There were several
instances in which patients on vorolanib did not require another anti-VEGF injection after screening. The trial was prematurely stopped due to
gastrointestinal and hepatobiliary toxicity concerns. These side effects are known to be associated with this class of compounds when given orally
but in the oral vorolanib studies they all resolved after discontinuation of use. The efficacy results provide additional validation of vorolanib for
use in EYP-1901 as a potential single dose sustained release treatment for wAMD.

 • In June 2020, a post-hoc analysis of cases of bilateral uveitis in the first Phase 3 trial of YUTIQ was presented virtually at the Association for
Research in Vision and Ophthalmology Annual Meeting. Outcomes for the untreated fellow eye were examined as a means of understanding the
natural history of the disease and showed a recurrence rate of 86.4% compared to 56.3% for YUTIQ treated eyes at 36-months. At 36-months,
fellow eyes also showed a higher rate of the need for the assistance of adjunctive intraocular/periocular injection medication for uveitic
inflammation, more macular edema, and a one-line average decrease in Best Corrected Visual Acuity (BCVA). We believe these supportive results
reinforce the long-term, anti-inflammatory and eyesight protecting activity of YUTIQ for this difficult to treat disease.

 • In July 2020, data from the first Phase 3 trial of YUTIQ were presented at the American Society of Retina Specialists Virtual Annual Meeting. A
post-hoc analysis of imputed recurrences revealed over half were from confounding systemic medication use, which suggest the recurrence rate for
YUTIQ is actually lower than the reported 56% at 36-months. The results also demonstrated YUTIQ increased the resolution of macular edema
and improved visual acuity at 36-months.

 • In October 2020, we completed a GLP toxicology study for EYP-1901, a potential six-month sustained delivery anti-VEGF therapy using our
bioerodible Durasert® technology for wet AMD. EYP-1901 had no unexpected safety findings during the course of this animal study. We expect
to file an IND application with the FDA in the fourth quarter of 2020 with a Phase 1 clinical trial to commence shortly thereafter.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that we make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base our estimates, judgments and assumptions on historical experience,
anticipated results and trends, and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances at the time. By their nature, these estimates,
judgments and assumptions are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual results may differ from our estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. In our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, we set forth our critical accounting policies and estimates, which
included revenue recognition and recognition of expense in outsourced clinical trial agreements. In the first quarter of 2019, we began selling commercial
products and consider reserves for variable consideration related to product sales to be a critical accounting estimate. See Note 2 of the notes to our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements contained in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for a description of our accounting policies and estimates for
reserves for variable consideration related to product sales.

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2019:
 

  Three Months Ended          
  September 30,   Change  
  2020   2019   Amounts   %  
  (In thousands except percentages)  

Revenues:                 
Product sales, net  $ 5,758  $ 1,009  $ 4,749   471%
License and collaboration agreement   9,535   1,054   8,481   805%
Royalty income   402   446   (44)   (10)%

Total revenues   15,695   2,509   13,186   526%
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired
   intangible assets   1,882   327   1,555   476%
Research and development   4,090   3,484   606   17%
Sales and marketing   5,269   7,778   (2,509)   (32)%
General and administrative   5,796   4,365   1,431   33%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets   615   615   —  na 

Total operating expenses   17,652   16,569   1,083   7%
Loss from operations   (1,957)   (14,060)   12,103   86%
Other income (expense):                 

Interest and other income   (4)   183   (187)   (102)%
Interest expense   (1,840)   (1,770)   (70)   (4)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —   —   —  na 

Other expense, net   (1,844)   (1,587)   (257)   (16)%
Net loss  $ (3,801)  $ (15,647)  $ 11,846   76%

 
Product Sales, net

Product sales, net represents the gross sales of DEXYCU and YUTIQ less provisions for product sales allowances. Product sales, net increased by
$4.7 million to $5.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019.  This
increase in revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in underlying customer demand and Distributor purchases of both products.  Although we did see
a modest return of customer demand for both products beginning in late Q2 2020, we expect this demand level to continue at decreased levels through the
duration of the Pandemic until restrictions on elective surgeries and office visits are removed.  Please see the Recent Development section for more
information on the impact of the Pandemic on, among other things, our product sales.

License and collaboration agreement

License and collaboration agreement revenues increased by $8.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $1.1 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2019. This increase was

33



attributable primarily to the recognition of $9.5 million under our Ocumension 2020 MOU entered into in August 2020 (see Note 3).

Royalty Income

Royalty income decreased by $44,000, or 10%, to $402,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $446,000 for the three
months ended September 30, 2019. The decrease was attributable primarily to lower ILUVIEN net sales under the Amended Alimera Agreement. Alimera
indicated in their second quarter earning’s press release that their sales were, and will continue to be, negatively impacted by the Pandemic.

Cost of Sales, Excluding Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets, increased by $1.6 million, or 476%, to $1.9 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2020 from $327,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2019. This increase was primarily attributable to (i) an increase in royalty
expense primarily due to the one-time $9.5 million recognition of revenue under the 2020 MOU with Ocumension and (ii) higher costs associated with higher
product sales, primarily costs of goods and distribution fees.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by $606,000, or 17%, to $4.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 from $3.5 million
for the same period in the prior year. This increase was attributable primarily to (i) approximately $335,000 in personnel and related expenses, primarily stock
based compensation and (ii) approximately $170,000 in preclinical studies and testing expenses, primarily for EYP-1901.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $2.5 million, or 32%, to $5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 from $7.8 million for
the same period in the prior year.  This decrease was attributable primarily to (i) approximately $1.8 million of net contract sales organization expenses due to
the reduction in DEXYCU KAMs as per our previously announced restructuring plan, including severance and (ii) approximately $900,000 in decreased
marketing expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.4 million, or 33%, to $5.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 from $4.4
million for the same period in the prior year. This increase was attributable primarily to (i) $484,000 in legal, audit and other professional fees, (ii) $421,000 in
personnel and related expenses, primarily stock based compensation, (iii) $227,000 in consulting expenses and (iv) $199,000 in insurance expense, primarily
our D&O policy.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

Amortization of acquired intangible assets totaled $615,000 for both the three months ended September 30, 2020 as well as the same period in the
prior year.  This amount is attributable to the DEXYCU product intangible asset that resulted from the Icon Acquisition (see Note 5).  

Interest (Expense) Income

Interest expense totaled $1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, which included $186,000 of amortization of debt discount and
$330,000 of non-cash payment-in-kind interest expense all related to the CRG Debt. Interest expense in the three months ended September 30, 2019 was $1.8
million which included $160,000 of amortization of debt discount and $322,000 of non-cash payment-in-kind interest expense.

34



Interest income from amounts invested in an institutional money market fund decreased to $1,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2020
compared to $183,000 in the prior year quarter, due primarily to higher interest-bearing assets and higher money market interest rates in the prior year quarter.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019:

 
  Nine Months Ended          
  September 30,   Change  
  2020   2019   Amounts   %  
  (In thousands except percentages)  
Revenues:                 

Product sales, net  $ 14,151  $ 8,941  $ 5,210   58%
License and collaboration agreement   11,590   1,125   10,465   930%
Royalty income   1,565   1,666   (101)   (6)%

Total revenues   27,306   11,732   15,574   133%
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired
   intangible assets   3,363   1,363   2,000   147%
Research and development   12,219   11,237   982   9%
Sales and marketing   19,483   22,373   (2,890)   (13)%
General and administrative   14,949   13,790   1,159   8%
Amortization of acquired intangible assets   1,845   1,845   —  na 

Total operating expenses   51,859   50,608   1,251   2%
Loss from operations   (24,553)   (38,876)   14,323   37%
Other income (expense):                 

Interest and other income   58   692   (634)   (92)%
Interest expense   (5,430)   (4,389)   (1,041)   (24)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —   (3,810)   3,810  na 

Other expense, net   (5,372)   (7,507)   2,135   28%
Net loss  $ (29,925)  $ (46,383)  $ 16,458   35%

 
Product Sales, net

Product sales, net represents the gross sales of DEXYCU and YUTIQ less provisions for product sales allowances. Product sales, net increased by
$5.2 million to $14.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $8.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.  We
commenced U.S. commercial sales of YUTIQ in February 2019 and DEXYCU in March 2019.  Product sales for the nine-months ended September 30, 2020
were negatively impacted due to shutdowns associated with the Pandemic in the U.S.  Although we did see a modest return of customer demand for both
products in late Q2 2020, we expect this demand level to continue at current decreased levels through the duration of the Pandemic until restrictions on
elective surgeries and office visits are removed. Please see the Recent Development section for more information on the impact of the Pandemic on, among
other things, our product sales.

License and collaboration agreement

License and collaboration agreement revenues increased by $10.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $1.1 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2019. This increase was attributable primarily to the recognition of $9.5 million under our Ocumension 2020 MOU
entered into August 2020 (see Note 3) as well as approximately $2.0 million from Ocumension upon signing a license agreement for DEXYCU in China,
compared with $1.0 million recognized in 2019 from Ocumension upon achieving their first development milestone for YUTIQ.
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Royalty Income

Royalty income decreased by $101,000, or 6%, to $1.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 from $1.7 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019. The decrease was attributable primarily to lower ILUVIEN net sales under the Amended Alimera Agreement in the second quarter
of 2020. Alimera indicated in their second quarter earning’s press release that their sales were, and will continue to be, impacted by the Pandemic. Royalty
income was also impacted by recognizing no revenue after the quarter ended March 31, 2019 for Retisert royalty as the licensee, Bausch and Lomb informed
us in early 2019 that they consider this agreement to have ended due to the expiration of certain patents.

Cost of Sales, Excluding Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

Cost of sales, excluding amortization of acquired intangible assets, increased by $2.0 million, or 147%, to $3.4 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 from $1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. This increase was primarily attributable to (i) approximately $1.3
million of royalty expense associated with the $9.5 million received from Ocumension under the 2020 MOU as well as $2 million received from the
Ocumension Dexycu signing payment received and (ii) higher costs associated with higher product sales, primarily costs of goods and distribution fees.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by $982,000, or 9%, to $12.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 from $11.2
million for the same period in the prior year. This increase was attributable primarily to (i) a $1.0 million payment to Equinox for the licensing of Vorolanib,
(ii) approximately $702,000 of increased expense for pre-clinical studies, (iii) approximately $300,000 in lab and clinical supplies expense primarily for
support of the EYP-1901 initiatives and (iv) approximately $258,000 in increased FDA user fee expenses related to DEXYCU and YUTIQ, partially offset by
approximate decreases of (i) $646,000 in consulting expenses, (ii) $546,000 in stability and other testing and (iii) $172,000 in personnel and related expenses.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by approximately $2.9 million , or 13%, to $19.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 from
$22.4 million for the same period in the prior year.  This decrease was primarily attributable to (i) approximately $2.7 million of net contract sales organization
(CSO) expenses due to the reduction in DEXYCU KAMs as per our previously announced restructuring plan, including severance and (ii) $1.3 million in
marketing and related expenses, partially offset by (i) an approximate $1.0 million increase in personnel and related expenses, primarily from the full year to
date impact of prior year additions and (ii) approximately $264,000 in increased expenses related to our HUB, an outsourced firm that performs benefit
investigations on behalf of patients for providers, and other market access initiatives.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.2 million or 8%, to $14.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 from $13.8
million for the same period in the prior year. This increase was attributable primarily to (i) $838,000 in legal, audit and other professional fees, (ii) $556,000 in
insurance expense, primarily our D&O policy and (iii) $452,000 in consulting expenses, partially offset by approximately $731,000 of decreased personnel
and related expenses, primarily stock-based compensation and recruiting fees.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

Amortization of acquired intangible assets totaled $1.8 million for both the nine months ended September 30, 2020 as well as the same period in the
prior year.  This amount was attributable to the DEXYCU product intangible asset that resulted from the Icon Acquisition (see Note 5).  

Interest (Expense) Income

Interest expense totaled $5.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, which included $534,000 of amortization of debt discount and
$977,000 of non-cash payment-in-kind interest expense all related to the CRG Debt. Interest expense in the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was $4.4
million which included $346,000 of amortization of debt discount and $728,000 of non-cash payment-in-kind interest expense. During the prior year period,
we extinguished the SWK Loan and established a new term loan facility with CRG (see Note 8).
 

Interest income from amounts invested in an institutional money market fund decreased to $58,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020
compared to $692,000 in the prior year, due primarily to higher interest-bearing assets and higher money market interest rates in the prior year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have had a history of operating losses and an absence of significant recurring cash inflows from revenue, and at September 30, 2020 we had a total
accumulated deficit of $495.2 million. Our operations have been financed primarily from sales of our equity securities, issuance of debt and a combination of
license fees, milestone payments, royalty income and other fees received from collaboration partners. In the first quarter of 2019, we commenced the U.S.
launch of our first two commercial products, YUTIQ and DEXYCU. However, we have not received sufficient revenues from our product sales to fund
operations and we do not expect revenues from our product sales to generate sufficient funding to sustain our operations in the near-term.  Accordingly, the
foregoing conditions, taken together, continue to raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for one year from the issuance of the
financial statements included in this report. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Financing Activities

Our total cash and cash equivalents were $28.7 million at September 30, 2020. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, we received net
cash proceeds of $20.0 million on February 25, 2020 from the issuance of shares of our common stock (“Common Stock”) in an underwritten public offering
(see Note 9). In addition, on April 8, 2020, we submitted an application through Silicon Valley Bank for the Paycheck Protection Program Loan (the “PPP
Loan”) pursuant to the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”). On April 22,
2020, we received PPP Loan proceeds of $2.0 million. Under the terms of the PPP Loan, the Company is prohibited from changing ownership without the
consent of the SBA and Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) in certain scenarios, which may include the sale or issuance of our equity securities. In October 2020,
the SBA issued guidance defining change of ownership as, among other things, at least 20% of the common stock or other ownership interest of a borrower
(including a publicly traded entity) is sold or otherwise transferred, whether in one or more transactions, including to an affiliate or an existing owner of the
company. For purposes of determining a change of ownership, all sales and other transfers occurring since the date of approval of the PPP Loan must be
aggregated to determine whether the relevant threshold has been met. But the SBA guidance noted that, for publicly traded borrowers, only sales or other
transfers that result in one person or entity owning at least 20% of the ownership interest of the borrower are aggregated. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020, we sold 6,029,465 shares of our common stock (“Common Stock”) utilizing our at-the-market facility (“ATM”) at a weighted
average price of $0.81 per share for net proceeds of approximately $4.9 million (See Note 9).

The CRG Loan is due and payable on December 31, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The CRG Loan bears interest at a per annum rate (subject to increase
during an event of default) equal to 12.5%, of which 2.5% may be paid in-kind at the election of the Company, so long as no default or event of default under
the CRG Loan Agreement has occurred and is continuing. The Company is required to make interest only payments on a quarterly basis until the Maturity
Date. The Company will also be required to pay an exit fee equal to 6% of the aggregate principal amounts advanced (including any paid-in-kind amounts)
under the CRG Loan Agreement. to certain exceptions, we are required to make mandatory prepayments of the CRG Loan with the proceeds of assets sales
and in the event of a change of control of our Company. In addition, we may make a voluntary prepayment of the CRG Loan, in whole or in part, at any time.
All mandatory and voluntary prepayments of the CRG Loan are subject to the payment of prepayment premiums as follows: (i)  if prepayment occurs after
December 31, 2019 and on or prior to December 31, 2020, 5% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the CRG Loan being prepaid and (ii) if
prepayment occurs after December 31, 2020 and on or prior to December 31, 2021, an amount equal to 3% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the CRG Loan being prepaid. No prepayment premium is due on any principal prepaid after December 31, 2021.
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Certain of the Company’s existing and future subsidiaries, including the Guarantors, are guaranteeing the obligations of us under the CRG Loan
Agreement. Our obligations under the CRG Loan Agreement and the guarantee of such obligations are secured by a pledge of substantially all of our and the
Guarantors’ assets.    

The CRG Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type, including limitations on our and our
subsidiaries’ abilities, among other things, to incur additional debt, grant or permit additional liens, make investments and acquisitions, merge or consolidate
with others, dispose of assets, pay dividends and distributions and enter into affiliate transactions, in each case, subject to certain exceptions. In addition, the
CRG Loan Agreement contains the following financial covenants requiring us and the Guarantors to maintain:

 • liquidity in an amount which shall exceed the greater of (i) $5 million and (ii) to the extent we have incurred certain permitted debt, the
minimum cash balance, if any, required of the Company by the creditors of such permitted debt; and

 • annual minimum product revenue from YUTIQ and DEXYCU: (i) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on
December 31, 2021, of at least $45 million and (ii) for the twelve-month period beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31,
2022, of at least $90 million.

On October 8, 2020, we entered into a Waiver to the CRG Loan Agreement (the “Waiver”) pursuant to which CRG waived the financial covenant
associated with our revenue derived from sales of DEXYCU and YUTIQ for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2020 and reduced the revenue
covenant for the twelve month period ending December 31, 2021 from $80 million to $45 million. On November 19, 2019, we entered into a Waiver to the
CRG Loan Agreement (the “Waiver”) pursuant to which CRG waived the financial covenant associated with our revenue derived from sales of DEXYCU and
YUTIQ for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2019. If we do not maintain compliance with all of the continuing covenants and other terms and
conditions of the CRG Loan or secure a waiver for any non-compliance, then the Lenders may choose to declare an event of default and require that we
immediately repay all amounts outstanding, plus penalties and interest, including an exit fee and any prepayment fees, and foreclose on the collateral granted
to them to secure such indebtedness. Such repayment would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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Future Funding Requirements

In the first quarter of 2019, we commenced the U.S. launch of our first two commercial products, YUTIQ and DEXYCU. To date, management does not
yet have sufficient historical evidence to assert that it is probable that we will receive sufficient revenues from our sales of YUTIQ and DEXYCU to generate
cash to fund operations. In addition, the Pandemic has had, and will likely continue to have, a material and adverse impact on our business, including as a
result of preventive and precautionary measures that we, other businesses, and governments are taking. Due to these impacts and measures, we have
experienced and will likely continue to experience significant and unpredictable reductions in the demand for our commercial products as customers have shut
down their facilities and non-essential surgical procedures have been postponed in an effort to promote social distancing and to redirect medical resources and
priorities towards the treatment of COVID-19. As of September 30, 2020, we had recurring operating losses since our inception and have an accumulated
deficit of approximately $495.2 million and working capital of $34.7 million. During October 2020, the Company received net proceeds of $5.7 million
through its at-the-market facility (the “ATM Facility”) financing. At October 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $30.5 million. We have
not received sufficient revenues from our product sales to fund operations and we do not expect revenues from our product sales to generate sufficient funding
to sustain our operations in the near-term.

Our plans that are intended to mitigate those conditions include continuing to fulfill our funding needs through cash inflows from revenue of YUTIQ
and DEXYCU product sales, licensing and research collaboration transactions, additional capital raises and other arrangements. Our plans also include the
continuation of expense reductions to conserve cash in response to a material adverse impact on our revenues due to a significant decline in product demand
associated with shut down of customer facilities and postponements of elective surgical procedures and physician office visits in response to the Pandemic. We
believe that our cash and cash equivalents of $30.5 million at October 31, 2020 and expected cash inflows from our product sales and royalty agreements, and
ATM Facility, coupled with cash conservation activities will enable us to fund our current and planned operations into 2021. There can be no assurance, that
we will receive the additional funding from any of these potential resources and even if cash proceeds are received, that such proceeds would be sufficient to
support our current operating plan for the next twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements. Actual cash requirements could differ
from management’s projections due to many factors, including the success of commercialization for YUTIQ and DEXYCU, the actual costs of these
commercialization efforts, additional investments in research and development programs, competing technological and market developments and the costs of
any strategic acquisitions and/or development of complementary business opportunities.

Actual cash requirements may differ from projections and will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
 • the effect of the Pandemic on our business, the medical community and the global economy;
 • the duration, scope and outcome of the SEC investigation and its impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows;
 • the success of our direct U.S. commercialization of DEXYCU for the treatment of postoperative ocular inflammation including, among other

things, patient and physician acceptance of DEXYCU and our ability to obtain adequate coverage and reimbursement for DEXYCU;
 • the success of our U.S. commercialization of YUTIQ for the treatment of non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior segment of the eye

including, among other things, patient and physician acceptance of YUTIQ and our ability to obtain adequate coverage and reimbursement for
YUTIQ;

 • the cost of commercialization activities for DEXYCU and YUTIQ, including product manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution;
 • whether and to what extent we internally fund, whether and when we initiate, and how we conduct other product development programs;
 • payments we receive under any new collaboration agreements;
 • whether and when we are able to enter into strategic arrangements for our products or product candidates and the nature of those arrangements;
 • whether and when we acquire new technologies, products or businesses;
 • the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing any patent claims;
 • continued real world efficacy and safety results in line with or better than our products labels;
 • changes in our operating plan, resulting in increases or decreases in our need for capital;
 • the forgiveness of the $2.0M PPP Loan by the U.S. Small Business Administration
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We do not know whether additional capital will be available if and when needed or on terms favorable to us or our stockholders. Collaboration,
licensing or other agreements may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. We do not know the extent to which we will receive funds from the
commercialization of YUTIQ or DEXYCU. If we seek to sell our equity securities in an offering, we do not know whether and to what extent we will be able
to do so, or on what terms. Further, the continued spread of COVID-19 has also led to severe disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, which
could increase our cost of capital and adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets in the future. If available, additional equity financing may be
dilutive to stockholders, debt financing may involve restrictive covenants or other unfavorable terms and dilute our existing stockholders’ equity, and funding
through collaboration, licensing or other commercial agreements may be on unfavorable terms, including requiring us to relinquish rights to certain of our
technologies or products. If adequate financing is not available if and when needed, we may delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate research or development
programs, independent commercialization of YUTIQ and DEXYCU, or other new products, if any, postpone or cancel the pursuit of product candidates,
including pre-clinical and clinical trials and new business opportunities, reduce staff and operating costs, or otherwise significantly curtail our operations to
reduce our cash requirements and extend our capital. Additionally, we may never become profitable, or if we do, we may not be able to sustain profitability on
a recurring basis.

Our consolidated statements of historical cash flows are summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

  Nine Months Ended      
  September 30,      
  2020   2019   Change  
Net loss:  $ (29,925)  $ (46,383)  $ 16,458 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   1,820   (9,463)   11,283 
Other adjustments to reconcile net loss
   to cash flows from operating activities   7,775   10,633   (2,858)

Net cash used in operating activities  $ (20,330)  $ (45,213)  $ 24,883 
Net cash used in investing activities  $ (170)  $ (207)  $ 37 
Net cash provided by financing activities  $ 27,012  $ 31,919  $ (4,907)

 
Operating cash outflows for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 totaled $20.3 million, primarily due to our net loss of $29.9 million, reduced

by $7.8 million of non-cash expenses, which included $4.3 million of stock-based compensation, $1.8 million of amortization of the DEXYCU finite-lived
intangible asset, and $1.5 million of non-cash interest and amortization of debt discount.

 
Operating cash outflows for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 totaled $45.2 million, primarily due to our net loss of $46.4 million, reduced

by $10.6 million of non-cash expenses, which included a $3.8 million loss on extinguishment of our SWK Loan, $3.7 million of stock-based compensation and
$1.8 million of amortization of the DEXYCU finite-lived intangible asset, and $1.2 million of non-cash interest and amortization of debt discount.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 consisted of $170,000 of purchases of property and equipment.
Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended Sept 30, 2019 consisted of $207,000 of purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 totaled $27.0 million and consisted of the following:

 
 (i) $20.0 million of net proceeds from the issuance of 15,000,000 shares of our Common Stock; and
 (ii) $2.0 million of net proceeds from the PPP Loan; and
 (iii) $294,000 of proceeds from stock issued our employee stock purchase plan; and
 (iv) $4.8 million of net proceeds from the issuance of 6,029,465 shares of our Common Stock sold utilizing our ATM.
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Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 totaled $31.9 million and consisted of the following:

 
 (i) $33.8 million of net proceeds from the initial drawdown under the CRG Loan Agreement, net of debt issue costs; and
 (ii) $18.3 million of net proceeds from the issuance of 10,526,500 shares of our common stock (“Common Stock”); and
 (iii) $14.8 million of net proceeds from our second drawdown under the CRG Loan Agreement offset by payment of a $15.0 million development

milestone that was due to the former Icon security holders following the first commercial sale of DEXYCU; and
 (iv) $308,000 of proceeds from the exercise of stock options
 (v) $2.4 million of net proceeds from the issuance of 1,707,995 shares of our Common Stock sold utilizing our ATM.; partially offset by
 (vi) $22.7 million repayment of the SWK Loan, which included principal of $20.0 million, a $1.2 million prepayment penalty, a $1.2 million exit fee

and $306,000 of make whole interest.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of September 30, 2020 that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that would be
material to investors.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are not required to provide
the information under this item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2020. The term “disclosure controls and procedures”, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was
being prepared. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance
of achieving their desired objectives, and our management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2020, our principal executive officer and our principal
financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended September 30, 2020, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Due to the continued Pandemic, certain employees of the Company continued working remotely during the quarter.  As a result of the continued
remote working environment the Company has not identified any material changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The Company is
continually monitoring and assessing the Pandemic situation to determine any potential impacts on the design and operating effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting.
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

On May 14, 2020, we received a subpoena from the Division of Enforcement of the SEC seeking production of certain documents and information
on topics including product sales and demand, revenue recognition and accounting in relation to product sales, product sales and cash projections, and related
financial reporting, disclosure and compliance matters. We are cooperating fully in connection with this investigation. Based on procedures performed to date
in relation to our revenue recognition practices, we have not identified any accounting items that are not in accordance with GAAP. In addition, we believe our
public statements regarding our business, including with respect to product sales and demand, have been and are in compliance with federal securities laws.  At
this time, we are unable to predict the duration, scope or outcome of this matter or whether it could have a material impact on our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flow.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

This section augments and updates certain risk factors disclosed in Item 1A of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2019 (the “Annual Report”). The following risk factor supersedes the corresponding risks described in the Annual Report and should be read together with
the other risk factors disclosed in the Annual Report. In addition to the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, all of the risk factors should
be carefully considered in evaluating us and our common stock. Any of these risks, many of which are beyond our control, could materially and adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, or cause our actual results to differ materially from those projected in any forward-looking
statements. We may also face other risks and uncertainties that are not presently known, are not currently believed to be material, or are not identified below
because they are common to all businesses. Past financial performance may not be a reliable indicator of future performance, and historical trends should not
be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. For more information, see “Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

 
We received a subpoena from the SEC Enforcement Division requesting documents and information in an investigation relating to product sales and
demand, revenue recognition and accounting.  If the SEC commences an enforcement action against us, the resolution of such an enforcement action
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, we have expended and expect
to continue to expend significant financial and managerial resources responding to the SEC subpoena, which could also have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
  

In May 2020, we received a subpoena from the SEC Enforcement Division requesting documents and information on topics including product sales
and demand, revenue recognition and accounting in relation to product sales, sales and cash guidance, and related financial reporting, disclosure and
compliance matters. We have cooperated and continue to cooperate with the SEC’s investigation. We cannot predict the outcome of the investigation, but there
can be no assurance that the SEC will not commence an enforcement action against us, or as to what the ultimate outcome of any such investigation might be.
Under applicable law, the SEC has the ability to impose sanctions on companies which are found to have violated the provisions of applicable federal
securities laws, including civil monetary penalties, cease and desist orders, and other remedies.  The resolution of any such enforcement action, should there be
one, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We have expended and expect to continue
to expend significant financial and managerial resources in connection with the investigation, which also could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. 
 
The ongoing novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had and will likely continue to have a material and adverse impact on our business.
 

The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, and will likely continue to have, a material and adverse impact on our business, including as a
result of preventive and precautionary measures that we, other businesses, and governments are taking. Due to these impacts and measures, we have
experienced and will likely continue to experience significant and unpredictable reductions in the demand for our products as customers have shut down their
facilities and non-essential surgical procedures have been postponed in an effort to promote social distancing and to redirect medical resources and priorities
towards the treatment of COVID-19.
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As a result, on April 1, 2020, we committed to and announced a restructuring plan (the “Plan”) with respect to our commercial operations. The Plan

includes the cancellation or deferral of planned spending to conserve cash. We have also commenced downsizing our workforce, with reductions coming
primarily from our external DEXYCU sales force and supporting commercial operations, as cataract surgery is considered a non-essential procedure due to the
Pandemic. The workforce reduction may have an adverse impact on our operations.

 
In addition, the Pandemic has and will likely continue to result in social, economic and labor instability in the countries in which we or the third

parties with whom we engage operate. For example, we have licensed DEXYCU and Durasert FA to Ocumension for Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan. Ocumension’s ability to conduct clinical trials may be materially and adversely affected due to COVID-19, which could have the result of, among
other things, delaying the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, causing delays in the delivery of product supply for clinical trials and affecting the ability of
clinical investigators, contract research organizations and other third-party service providers to devote sufficient time and resources to the clinical development
programs. 

 
While we cannot presently predict the future scope and severity of current or any potential business shutdowns or disruptions related to COVID-19, if

we or any of the third parties with whom we engage, including the suppliers, manufacturers and other third parties in our global supply chain, clinical trial
sites, regulators, surgeons, ASCs, potential business development partners and other third parties with whom we conduct business, were to experience
prolonged shutdowns or other business disruptions, including the imposition of restrictions on the export or import of our key supplies from countries outside
of the United States, our ability to conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines presently planned could be materially and negatively impacted.  In
addition, the pandemic’s ongoing impact on the medical community and the global economy could have a prolonged adverse impact on our product sales and
royalty income on products we license to third parties such as Alimera if, for example, fewer uveitis or DME procedures are performed than we or Alimera
previously anticipated or if the performance of elective surgeries such as cataract surgery do not resume to pre-pandemic levels in the near term. Further, any
sustained disruption in the capital markets from the Pandemic could negatively impact our ability to raise capital.

 
To the extent the Pandemic continues to adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, it may also heighten

many of the other risks described in the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report. The ultimate impact of the Pandemic on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows is dependent on future developments, which are still highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence,
including the duration of the pandemic, as well as the timing and phasing of business reopening, including the resumption of the performance of elective
surgical procedures such as cataract surgeries.

 
 
Our loan under the Paycheck Protection Program may not be forgiven or may subject us to challenges and investigations regarding qualification for the
loan.
 

On April 22, 2020, we received a PPP Loan, which was established under the CARES Act in the principal amount of $2.0 million. Pursuant to
Section 1106 of the CARES Act we may apply for and be granted forgiveness for all or a portion of the PPP Loan. Such forgiveness will be determined,
subject to limitations, based on the use of the loan proceeds for qualifying expenses, which include payroll costs, rent, and utility costs over the allowable
measurement period following receipt of the loan proceeds.
 

The SBA continues to develop and issue new and updated guidance regarding the PPP Loan application and forgiveness process, including
guidance regarding required borrower certifications and requirements for forgiveness of loans made under the program. Given the evolving nature of the
guidance and depending upon our ability to use the loan proceeds for qualifying expenses, we cannot give any assurance that our PPP Loan will be forgiven in
whole or in part.
 

Additionally, the PPP Loan application required us to certify that the current economic uncertainty made the PPP Loan request necessary to support
our ongoing operations. While we made this certification in good faith after analyzing, among other things, our financial situation and access to alternative
forms of capital, and believe that we satisfied all eligibility criteria for the PPP Loan and that our receipt of the PPP Loan is consistent with the broad
objectives of the Paycheck Protection Program of the CARES Act, the certification described above does not contain any objective criteria and is subject to
interpretation. In addition, the SBA has stated that it is unlikely that a public
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company with substantial market value and access to capital markets will be able to make the required certification in good faith. The lack of clarity regarding
loan eligibility under the program has resulted in significant media coverage and controversy with respect to public companies applying for and receiving
loans. If, despite our good faith belief that we satisfied all eligibility requirements for the PPP Loan, we are found to have been ineligible to receive the PPP
Loan or in violation of any of the laws or regulations that apply to us in connection with the PPP Loan, including the False Claims Act, we may be subject to
penalties, including significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties and would be required to repay the PPP Loan. In the event that we seek forgiveness
of all or a portion of the PPP Loan, we will also be required to make certain certifications which will be subject to audit and review by governmental entities
and could subject us to significant penalties and liabilities if found to be inaccurate, including being required to repay the PPP loan. In addition, our receipt of
the PPP Loan may result in adverse publicity and damage to our reputation, and a review or audit by the SBA or other government entity or claims under the
False Claims Act could consume significant financial and management resources. Any of these events could materially harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
 
If we are unable to regain compliance with the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market, our common stock may be delisted from the Nasdaq
Global Market which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and could make it more difficult for you to sell your shares.
 

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, and we are therefore subject to its continued listing requirements, including requirements
with respect to the market value of publicly-held shares, market value of listed shares, minimum bid price per share, and minimum stockholders' equity, among
others, and requirements relating to board and committee independence. If we fail to satisfy one or more of the requirements, we may be delisted from the
Nasdaq Global Market.
 

On June 12, 2020, we received a letter (the “Letter”) from the Listing Qualifications Department (the “Staff”) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(“Nasdaq”) indicating that our common stock did not meet the minimum bid price of $1.00 per share required for continued listing on the Nasdaq Global
Market pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) based on the closing bid price of our common stock for the 30 consecutive business days prior to the date
of the Letter. The Letter has no effect at this time on the listing of our common stock, which will continue to trade on the Nasdaq Global Market under the
symbol “EYPT”.
 

Under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), if during the 180 calendar day period following the date of the Letter the closing bid price of our common
stock is at or above $1.00 for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, we will regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement and our
common stock will continue to be eligible for listing on the Nasdaq Global Market, absent noncompliance with any other requirement for continued listing. On
April 16, 2020, Nasdaq announced it was providing temporary relief from continued listing bid price requirements through June 30, 2020. Under the relief we
will have additional time to regain compliance with the listing bid price requirements, with the compliance period beginning July 1, 2020. As such, our
compliance period will expire on December 28, 2020.
 

If we do not regain compliance by December 28, 2020, we may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day grace period if we meet the continued
listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares ($1.0 million) and all other Nasdaq initial listing standards which require, among other things, that
we have at least $5.0 million of stockholders’ equity or at least $4.0 million of stockholders’ equity and $50.0 million market value of listed shares. If we fail
to regain compliance during the applicable period, we will receive notification from Nasdaq that our common stock is subject to delisting. At that time, we
may then appeal the delisting determination to a Hearings Panel. Such notification will have no immediate effect on our listing on the Nasdaq Global Market,
nor will it have an immediate effect on the trading of our common stock pending such hearing. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to
regain compliance with Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement. If we regain compliance with Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to maintain compliance with the continued listing requirements for the Nasdaq Global Market or that our common stock will not
be delisted from the Nasdaq Global Market in the future. In addition, we may be unable to meet other applicable listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global
Market, including maintaining minimum levels of stockholders’ equity or market values of our common stock in which case, our common stock could be
delisted notwithstanding our ability to demonstrate compliance with the minimum bid price requirement.
 

Delisting from the Nasdaq Global Market may adversely affect our ability to raise additional financing through the public or private sale of equity
securities, may significantly affect the ability of investors to trade our
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securities and may negatively affect the value and liquidity of our common stock. Delisting also could have other negative results, including the potential loss
of employee confidence, the loss of institutional investors or interest in business development opportunities.
 

If we are delisted from Nasdaq and we are not able to list our common stock on another exchange, our common stock could be quoted on the OTC
Bulletin Board or in the “pink sheets.” As a result, we could face significant adverse consequences including, among others:
 
 • a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

 
 • a determination that our common stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in our common stock to adhere to more stringent

rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our securities;
 

 • a limited amount of news and little or no analyst coverage for us;
 

 • we would no longer qualify for exemptions from state securities registration requirements, which may require us to comply with applicable state
securities laws; and

 
 • a decreased ability to issue additional securities (including pursuant to short-form Registration Statements on Form S-3) or obtain additional

financing in the future.
 

If our common stock becomes subject to the penny stock rules, it would become more difficult to trade our shares.
 

The SEC has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in penny stocks. Penny stocks are generally equity
securities with a price of less than $5.00, other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or authorized for quotation on certain
automated quotation systems, provided that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or
system. If we do not retain our listing on the Nasdaq Global Market and if the price of our common stock is less than $5.00, our common stock may be deemed
a penny stock. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, before a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, to deliver a
standardized risk disclosure document containing specified information. In addition, the penny stock rules require that before effecting any transaction in a
penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, a broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for
the purchaser and receive (i) the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt of a risk disclosure statement; (ii) a written agreement to transactions
involving penny stocks; and (iii) a signed and dated copy of a written suitability statement. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the
trading activity in the secondary market for our common stock, and therefore stockholders may have difficulty selling their shares.
 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
    Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing
Exhibit
No.

 
Exhibit Description

 
Form

 SEC Filing
Date

 Exhibit
No.

         

    1.1  Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement, dated August 5, 2020, by and
between EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
 

 8-K  08/05/20  1.1

    3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of pSivida Corp.  8-K12G3  06/19/08  3.1
         

    3.2  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of pSivida Corp.  10-K  09/13/17  3.2
         

    3.3  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of pSivida Corp.  8-K  04/02/18  3.1
         

    3.4  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of EyePoint
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

 8-K  06/27/18  3.1

         

    3.5  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of EyePoint
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

 8-K  6/23/20  3.1

         

    3.6  Bylaws of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  10-K  09/18/18  3.5
         
    3.7  Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  8-K  11/06/18  3.1
         

    4.1  Form of Specimen Stock Certificate for Common Stock  8-K12G3  06/19/08  4.1
         

    4.2  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of pSivida Corp., issued March 28, 2018, to SWK
Funding, LLC

 8-K  3/29/18  4.1

         

    4.3  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2018, by and among pSivida
Corp. and EW Healthcare Partners, L.P. and EW Healthcare Partners-A, L.P.

 8-K  3/29/18  10.3

         

    4.4  Second Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 25, 2018, by and among
EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and EW Healthcare Partners, L.P. and EW Healthcare
Partners-A, L.P. and each other person identified on the signature pages thereto

 8-K  06/27/18  10.1

         

  10.1*#  Commercial Alliance Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2020 between EyePoint
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and ImprimisRx, LLC.

      

         
  31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-

14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

      

  31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

      

         
  32.1**  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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  32.2**  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

      

         
101.INS

 
XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

   
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
   
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
   
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Database.
   
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
   
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (Embedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in

Exhibit 101).
 

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
# Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in compliance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
 EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
   
Date: November 6, 2020 By: /s/ Nancy Lurker
 Name: Nancy Lurker
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXECUTION VERSION
Exhibit 10.1

 

Portions of this exhibit indicated by bracketed asterisks have been omitted because they are not material and would likely
cause competitive harm to EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. if publicly disclosed.

 

COMMERCIAL ALLIANCE AGREEMENT

THIS COMMERCIAL ALLIANCE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) effective as of August 1, 2020 (the “Effective
Date”), is entered into between EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“EyePoint”), having a place of
business at 480 Pleasant Street, Suite B300, Watertown, Massachusetts 02472, and IMPRIMISRX, LLC a Delaware limited liability
company (“Imprimis” and together with EyePoint, the “Parties” (with each being a “Party”)), having a place of business at 12264 El
Camino Real, Suite 350, San Diego, California 92130.  

WHEREAS, Imprimis intends to wind down and terminate its operations relating to the manufacture and sale of Tri-moxi
(as defined below) and is seeking an alternative product to commercialize in the United States;

WHEREAS, EyePoint owns rights to the product known as Dexycu (as defined below) in the United States and is seeking
additional support for its promotional efforts with respect thereto; and

WHEREAS, EyePoint wishes to engage Imprimis to perform, and Imprimis wishes to perform, certain promotional
activities for Dexycu in the United States, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the
Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions and Interpretation.

1.1 Definitions.  For purposes of this Agreement, the terms defined in this Section 1 have the respective meanings
set forth below, and grammatical variations have corresponding meanings:

1.1.1 “Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person.  For the purposes of this definition, a Person shall be
regarded as in control of another Person if it owns, or directly or indirectly controls, at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting stock
or other ownership interest of the other Person, or if it directly or indirectly possesses the power to direct or cause the direction of
the management and policies of the other Person by any means whatsoever.

 



 
1.1.2 “Baseline Demand” means, with respect to a Customer and a period of time, the Baseline Quarterly

Amount for such Customer prorated for such period of time.  

1.1.3 “Baseline Period” means (a) with respect to the Group A Customers, [***](the
“Initial Baseline Months”), (b) with respect to the Group B Customers, the period consisting of (i)  [***] full calendar months
immediately following the Effective Date and (ii)  [***] months of the Initial Baseline Months with the highest Customer Demand
for such Customer, and (c) with respect to any other Customer, such other [***]period as determined by the Commercialization
Committee pursuant to Section 7.1.2.

1.1.4 “Baseline Quarterly Amount” means, with respect to a Customer, the
aggregate Customer Demand for such Customer during the applicable Baseline Period divided by two (2).  

1.1.5 “cGMP” means the principles detailed in the United States Current Good
Manufacturing Practices (21 C.F.R. §§200, 211 and 600).

1.1.6 “Change of Control” means, with respect to a Person: (a) any sale, exchange,
transfer, or issuance to or acquisition in one transaction or a series of related transactions resulting in a Third Party controlling at
least fifty percent (50%) of the ownership interest of such Person, whether such sale, exchange, transfer, issuance or acquisition is
made directly or indirectly, by merger or otherwise, or beneficially or of record; (b) a merger or consolidation under applicable law
of such Person, with a Third Party in which the shareholders or equity holders of such Person, or any Affiliate that directly or
indirectly controls such Person, immediately prior to such merger or consolidation do not continue to control the entity surviving or
resulting from such merger or consolidation; or (c) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of such Person to
which this Agreement relates, to one or more Third Party(ies) in one transaction or a series of related transactions.  For the purposes
of this definition, a Person shall be regarded as in control of another Person if it owns, or directly or indirectly controls, at least fifty
percent (50%) of the voting stock or other ownership interest of the other Person, or if it directly or indirectly possesses the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the other Person by any means whatsoever.

1.1.7 “Commercialization Committee” means the committee comprising
representatives of EyePoint and Imprimis described in Section 7.1.1.

1.1.8 “Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means, in the case of either Party, with
respect to any Product, those efforts and resources that such Party would typically devote to a product owned by it or to which it has
rights of the type it has hereunder, which is of similar market potential at a similar stage in its development or product life, taking
into account its relative potential safety and efficacy, competitive position, pricing and launching strategy, proprietary position and
profitability and other relevant legal, medical, regulatory, scientific or technical factors.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the use of
Commercially Reasonable Efforts by a Party with respect to the promotion or marketing, or solicitation of customers for, Products
shall require the use of efforts, standards and resources typically devoted by similarly situated companies engaged in the sale of
FDA approved pharmaceutical products.
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1.1.9 “Confidential Information” means all information and data that (a) is provided

by one Party to the other Party or any of its Affiliates under this Agreement, and (b) if disclosed in writing or other tangible medium
is marked or identified as confidential at the time of disclosure to the recipient, is acknowledged at the time of disclosure to be
confidential, or otherwise should reasonably be deemed to be confidential.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information
of a Party shall not include that portion of such information and data which, and only to the extent, the recipient can establish by
written documentation: (i) is known to the recipient as evidenced by its written records before receipt thereof from the disclosing
Party, (ii) is disclosed to the recipient free of confidentiality obligations by a Third Party who has the right to make such disclosure,
(iii) is or becomes part of the public domain through no fault of the recipient, or (iv) the recipient can reasonably establish is
independently developed by persons on behalf of recipient without access to or use of the information disclosed by the disclosing
Party.

1.1.10 “Customer Demand” means, with respect to a Customer during a given
period of time, the number of units of Product ordered by such Customer and shipped from EyePoint, its Affiliate, or an EyePoint
distributor during such period of time.  

1.1.11 “Customers” [***]

1.1.12 “Dexycu” means the EyePoint product referred to by EyePoint as “Dexycu,”
which comprises nine percent (9%) dexamethasone intraocular suspension for ophthalmic use, together with all modifications,
improvements, and enhancements thereto.

1.1.13 “EW Healthcare Entities” means EW Healthcare Partners, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership, and each of its Affiliates.

1.1.14 “EyePoint Marks” means those certain trademarks, trade names, designs and
markings owned or licensed by EyePoint set forth on Exhibit A or designated from time to time in writing by EyePoint as available
for use by Imprimis under this Agreement in connection with the promotion, marketing and solicitation of orders for the Products in
the Territory.

1.1.15 “FDA” means the Food and Drug Administration of the United States or any
successor thereto.

1.1.16 “GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

1.1.17 “Group A Customers” [***]

1.1.18 “Group B Customers”[***].  

1.1.19 “HIPAA” means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the rules
and regulations promulgated under its authority.

1.1.20 “Joint Steering Committee” means the committee comprising representatives of EyePoint and
Imprimis described in Section 7.2.1.
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1.1.21 “Legal Manufacturer” means the Person with legal authority to design, manufacture, package and

label a product or device before it is placed on the market, regardless of whether these operations are carried out by that Person itself
or on its behalf by another Person.

1.1.22 “Marketing Materials” means, with respect to a Product, all advertising, promotional, sales, social
media and other related literature and materials for such Product provided or approved from time to time by EyePoint after
consultation with Imprimis, each as modified in writing from time to time by EyePoint in its sole discretion after consultation with
Imprimis.  The applicable Marketing Materials for any Product may be determined by EyePoint after consultation with Imprimis
with respect to specific Product, specific Customer or the specific circumstances of any specific sale.

1.1.23 “Minimum Sales Period” [***]

1.1.24 “Minimum Year” means (a)  [***] of the Term and (b) beginning on [***]thereafter during the
Term.

1.1.25 “Net Sales” means the aggregate gross sales of Product invoiced to Third Party customers in the
United States (or are Affiliates who are the end users of such Product) by EyePoint or its Affiliates, less: (a) returns, credits,
allowances, discounts and rebates (including volume-based rebates) accrued with respect to such customers, (b) an allowance for
bad debts, and (c) fees actually paid to distributors and specialty pharmacies for distribution of such Product, in each case of (a)
through (c), as determined in accordance with GAAP.

1.1.26 “Net Selling Price” means the average price paid for a unit of Product by all customers in the
United States during a given period of time based on EyePoint’s and its Affiliates’ net Product revenue reported in its financial
statements for such period divided by the total number of units of Product sold by EyePoint and its Affiliates to its distributors
during the corresponding period.  Net product revenue will include deductions for (a) returns, credits, allowances, discounts and
rebates (including volume-based rebates) to the account of such customers, (b) an allowance for bad debts, and (c) fees actually paid
to distributors and specialty pharmacies for distribution of such Product, in each case of (a) through (c), as determined in accordance
with GAAP.  For avoidance of doubt, any Product shipped by EyePoint or its Affiliates or distributors as samples are specifically
excluded from this calculation.

1.1.27 “Pass-Through Payment Status” means the designation of Dexycu by the United States Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or any successor thereto, of “pass-through” payment status pursuant to Section 1833(t)(6) of the
Social Security Act or its related regulations.

1.1.28 “Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, trust, business trust, association, joint
stock company, joint venture, pool, syndicate, sole proprietorship, unincorporated organization, governmental authority or any other
form of entity not specifically listed herein.

1.1.29 “Product” means Dexycu.
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1.1.30 “Registration” means any registration, license, permit or governmental approval or clearance

necessary for the purchase, distribution, promotion, marketing or sale of the Products in the Territory.

1.1.31 “Tax” or “Taxes” means any present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, charges, assessments
or fees of any nature (including any interest thereon), other than corporate income taxes or comparable taxes assessed on net profits
payable by Imprimis.

1.1.32 “Territory” means the United States of America, together with its territories and possessions.

1.1.33 “Third Party” means any Person other than EyePoint, Imprimis and their respective Affiliates.

1.1.34 “Tri-moxi” means the Imprimis product referred to by Imprimis as “Tri-moxi” and that includes
as ingredients triamcinolone acetonide, moxifloxacin hydrochloride and poloxamer 407.

1.2 Interpretation.  The definitions of the terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the
terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter
forms.  The words “include” and “contain” (and their variant forms) shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without
limitation.”  The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall.”  “US Dollar” or “$” as
used in this Agreement means the lawful currency of the United States.  Any reference to any laws, codes or regulations herein shall
be construed as referring to such laws as from time to time enacted, repealed or amended.  The words “herein,” “hereof” and
“hereunder,” and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular
provision hereof.  The term “or” has, except where otherwise indicated, the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or.”
Any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include the Person’s permitted successors and assigns.  The headings used
in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any
provision hereof.

2. Representations and Warranties.

2.1 Mutual Representations and Warranties.  Each Party hereby represents and warrants to the other Party as
follows:

2.1.1 Such Party is a duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction in which it is organized.

2.1.2 Such Party (a) has the requisite power and authority and the legal right to enter into this Agreement
and to perform its obligations hereunder and (b) has taken all necessary actions on its part to authorize the execution and delivery of
this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered on behalf
of such Party, and, assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties made by the other Party in this Section 2.1.2,
constitutes a legal, valid, binding obligation, enforceable against such Party in accordance with its terms.
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2.1.3 All necessary consents, approvals and authorizations of all governmental authorities and other

Persons required to be obtained by such Party in connection with this Agreement have been obtained.

2.1.4 The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations
hereunder do not conflict with or violate any requirement of applicable laws or regulations.

2.1.5 There is no litigation pending or, to such Party’s knowledge, without having made an independent
investigation, threatened against such Party or any of its Affiliates with respect to the transactions and activities contemplated by
this Agreement.

2.2 Imprimis Representations and Warranties and Covenants.  Imprimis hereby represents, warrants and covenants
to EyePoint that: (a) as of the Effective Date, the customers set forth on Exhibit B constitute [***]of Tri-moxi (by revenue); (b) it
has the requisite personnel, facilities, equipment, expertise, experience and skill to perform its obligations hereunder; (c) it shall
perform its obligations hereunder in accordance with all applicable laws (including all applicable FDA or other regulatory authority
requirements), this Agreement and generally accepted professional standards; (d) it shall, and its representatives and agents shall,
comply with applicable policies of EyePoint (which shall be delivered and/or communicated to applicable Imprimis employees,
representatives and agents as promptly as practicable following the Effective Date) regarding the proper conduct of its
representatives and agents in their interactions with customers; and (e) as of the Effective Date, it has unilaterally elected to wind
down the manufacture, promotion and sale of Tri-moxi.

2.3 EyePoint Representations and Warranties and Covenants.  EyePoint hereby represents, warrants and covenants
to Imprimis that: (a) it shall perform its obligations hereunder in accordance with, all applicable laws (including cGMP and all
applicable FDA or other regulatory authority requirements), this Agreement and generally accepted professional standards; and
(b) as of the Effective Date, to the best of EyePoint’s knowledge after due inquiry, neither Product nor any use thereof infringes,
misappropriates or otherwise violates the intellectual property rights of any Third Party.  Without limiting the generality of clause
(a) above, EyePoint hereby represents, warrants and covenants to Imprimis that (i) EyePoint shall comply with the applicable
requirements with respect to the “discount” exception as set forth in 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(3)(A) or the “discount safe harbor” as
set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952(h) and shall account for any applicable discounts, rebates or price concessions to the extent
required to comply with its price reporting obligations, and (ii) Eyepoint shall take any customer rebates into account in its
calculation of the average sales price and Medicaid best price of Dexycu in accordance with applicable regulations.  

2.4 DISCLAIMERS.  WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION 2, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES
TO THE OTHER PARTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED.  EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL (INCLUDING ANY
WARRANTY OF TITLE, MERCHANTABILITY,

6



 
SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT) TO THE EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW.

3. Appointment as Independent Agent.

3.1 Appointment.  EyePoint hereby appoints Imprimis as a non-exclusive independent agent of EyePoint and its
Affiliates to promote and market Product to, and to solicit orders for Product from, Customers solely in the Territory, on the terms
and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  Imprimis hereby accepts such appointment.

3.2 Sub-Agents.  Imprimis shall have the right to appoint or authorize sub-agents under this Agreement only with
EyePoint’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Imprimis shall be responsible
for each such sub-agent’s compliance with all terms and conditions of this Agreement applicable to Imprimis and shall be liable for
any and all breaches by such sub-agent thereof.

3.3 Products.

3.3.1 The rights granted to Imprimis hereunder relate solely to the Products on the terms and conditions
of this Agreement.  Imprimis shall have no right to promote, market or solicit orders for any other EyePoint product unless
otherwise expressly approved in writing by EyePoint in its sole discretion. Imprimis is not granted any right or license to sell or
distribute Product.

3.3.2 Neither Imprimis nor any of its Affiliates shall act as an agent or as a legal representative of
EyePoint or its Affiliates, and Imprimis and its Affiliates shall not have any right or power to act for or bind EyePoint or its
Affiliates in any respect or to pledge its credit.  The detailed operations of each Party and its Affiliates under this Agreement are
subject to the sole control and management of such Party and its Affiliates.

3.4 Customer Inquiries.  From and after [***]days after the Effective Date, if Imprimis receives a bona fide inquiry
for sale of Product from a Third Party that is not an existing Customer, Imprimis shall have the right to provide written notice
thereof to EyePoint, which notice shall identify the applicable Third Party.  Such Third Party may be added as a Customer by the
Commercialization Committee, which shall also determine Baseline Period and Baseline Quarterly Amount for such Customer, if
any.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if (a) any such Third Party has not purchased at least [***]units of Product in
the [***]month period prior to Imprimis’ written notice set forth above, (b) such Third Party is not added as a Customer by the
Commercialization Committee, and (c) such Third Party purchases Product within [***]months after Imprimis’ written notice, then
such Third Party shall automatically be added as a Customer hereunder effective as of the date of such written notice. For the
avoidance of doubt, any Product inquiries received by Imprimis from potential Customers prior to the end of such [***]day period,
and not previously included under the definition of “Customers” herein, may be disclosed to EyePoint by written notice and
addressed on a case-by-case basis by the Commercialization Committee.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, in the event a
prospective Customer has commenced Product training with EyePoint prior to or during such [***]day period, then EyePoint shall
notify Imprimis promptly in writing of such commencement of Product training; Imprimis
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shall then promptly disclose to EyePoint a written summary of communications Imprimis is having or has had with such prospective
Customer; and then the status of such prospective Customer shall be addressed on a case-by-case basis by mutual agreement of the
Parties.

3.5 No Rights or Licenses.  Only rights and licenses expressly granted herein shall be of legal force and effect.  No
license or other right shall be created hereunder by implication, estoppel or otherwise.

3.6 Pricing.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, EyePoint shall have sole decision-making
authority with respect to the price of any Product.  Further, for purposes of clarity and the avoidance of doubt, without the express
written consent of EyePoint, which EyePoint may withhold, condition or refuse in its sole and absolute discretion, at no time shall
Imprimis or its Affiliates, representatives or agents, promote, create or establish bundled offerings or package deals for the Product
in combination with any other product or service.  

3.7 Limited Exclusivity.  EyePoint shall not knowingly or intentionally perform any act that could reasonably
conflict with EyePoint’s appointment of Imprimis as an independent agent. In addition to and without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, EyePoint (a) shall not (and shall cause its Affiliates not to) engage or appoint any Third-Party compounding pharmacy or
outsourcing facility (as defined and described in 21 U.S.C. §353a and §353b) as an independent sales agent for Product in the
Territory, and (b) shall not solicit, initiate or encourage submission of proposals or offers from any Third-Party compounding
pharmacy or outsourcing facility to become an independent sales agent for Product in the Territory. For the avoidance of doubt, this
excludes any contractual relationship EyePoint may have or may enter into with its customers or distributors, or with third parties
related to such relationships, such as group purchasing organizations, from time-to-time.

3.8 Non-Circumvention.  EyePoint shall not, knowingly or intentionally, do any of the following:

3.8.1 enter into any transaction with any sub-agent of
Imprimis or of Imprimis’, its Affiliate’s, or its sub-agent’s employees, contractors or consultants similar to, in competition with, or
which could have the effect of preventing Imprimis from receiving the full benefit of the appointment under Section 3.1;

3.8.2 solicit any of the foregoing to enter into any such a
transaction; or

3.8.3 induce, solicit, procure or otherwise encourage any
of EyePoint’s Affiliates or distributors to enter into any such transaction.

4. Covenants of Imprimis.

4.1 Marketing, Promotion and Solicitation of Orders.

4.1.1 Imprimis shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause Customers to become customers for
Product and to promote and market the Product in the Territory and subject to and otherwise in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement. Imprimis shall dedicate no fewer of its sales representatives, sub-agents and approved contractors on a
full
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time basis with Product as their highest priority and primary promoted product throughout the duration of the Term than may be
reasonably necessary to cause the Customers to become customers for Product.  Imprimis shall ensure that all such sales
representatives, sub-agents and approved contractors are trained by Imprimis to be familiar with all appropriate requirements of this
Agreement which are relevant to their performance of their duties as a sales agent for the Product.

4.1.2 Imprimis shall not use any advertising, promotional or other sales literature or materials to promote
or market the Products other than the Marketing Materials or other literature or materials expressly approved in advance in writing
by EyePoint.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if EyePoint provides Imprimis with electronic copies of any Marketing Materials,
Imprimis shall have the right to make copies thereof to the extent necessary to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
Imprimis shall not make any false or misleading statement, or any representation or warranty, oral or written, to any Third Party
concerning the Products that is inconsistent with, in excess of, or contrary to, the Marketing Materials or other literature or materials
expressly approved in advance in writing by EyePoint, or that is disparaging to the Products, EyePoint or any of EyePoint’s
Affiliates.  

4.1.3 Imprimis shall adhere to EyePoint’s ordering and distribution system with respect to all orders for
the Products from Customers in the Territory that it receives.

4.1.4 If any Third Party makes an inquiry regarding a Product or its use, Imprimis shall promptly address
such matter in accordance with procedures and other instructions provided in writing by EyePoint; provided, however, that (a) if
such inquiry specifically relates to customer service or product support for a Product, Imprimis shall forward such inquiry to
EyePoint; and (b) if such inquiry relates to a warranty claim or other complaint related to a Product, then Imprimis shall provide to
EyePoint all information reasonably related thereto.

4.2 Reports.  At each meeting of the Commercialization Committee, Imprimis shall report to EyePoint in writing as
well as orally summarizing in reasonable detail its and its approved sub-agents’ sales calls or other contacts with, and the progress
and development of Customers for the Products in the Territory.

4.3 Warranty Claims.  Imprimis shall promptly notify EyePoint of each customer warranty claim relating to a
Product received by Imprimis.

4.4 Recalls.  In the event of a Product incident, recall or field safety corrective action initiated by or on behalf of
EyePoint or by a regulatory agency or court, following written notice thereof from EyePoint, Imprimis shall reasonably cooperate
with EyePoint in effecting the reporting of an incident or the recall of the affected Products.  EyePoint shall be responsible, at its
sole expense, for conducting any recalls or field safety corrective actions pertaining to the Products, and EyePoint shall reimburse
Imprimis for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably incurred by Imprimis in cooperating with EyePoint pursuant to the
terms of this Section 4.4, except to the extent such costs and expenses result from Imprimis’ gross negligence, fraud or willful
misconduct.
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4.5 Cooperation with EyePoint.  Imprimis shall provide such assistance as reasonably requested by EyePoint in

connection with all Registrations for the Products, and all contacts with the applicable regulatory authorities in connection
therewith, reasonably required to permit Imprimis to promote and market the Products to, and to solicit orders for the Products, from
Customers in the Territory pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

5. Covenants of EyePoint.

5.1 Training for Imprimis Personnel.  EyePoint shall provide Imprimis technical and sales personnel with such
training regarding the Products as EyePoint customarily provides to its personnel.  Such training shall be conducted at such
reasonable times and places as mutually agreed by the Parties.

5.2 Marketing, Promotion and Sales Support.  EyePoint, in collaboration with Imprimis, shall support the
marketing, promotion and sales of the Products by Imprimis in the Territory by the following:

5.2.1 EyePoint shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to maintain all necessary Registrations and
patent rights or other intellectual property rights related to Product.

5.2.2 EyePoint or its Affiliates shall provide Imprimis with (a) reasonable access to and assistance of its
technical, sales, and service personnel, (b) reasonable technical information regarding Products, and (c) reasonable product
specialist detailing and sales support, in each case, as reasonably necessary to support Imprimis detail calls regarding Products with
Imprimis existing or future Customers in the Territory, as EyePoint customarily provides in the Territory, and without charge to
Imprimis except as may be otherwise mutually agreed in writing.

5.2.3 EyePoint shall provide Imprimis with electronic or hard copies of Marketing Materials, package
inserts and labeling, and technical information regarding the Products and their proper use.  

5.3 Orders and Distributor Portal Access.  If Imprimis receives an order for Product (from a Customer or other
Third Party), it shall promptly transmit such order to EyePoint through EyePoint’s authorized distributors for the Product for
acceptance or rejection.  EyePoint’s distributors shall have final authority to accept or reject customer orders, subject to normal
evaluation of creditworthiness, contract coverage or other reasonable customer acceptance measures as such EyePoint distributors
may determine.  At no time shall Imprimis have any power or authority to accept or reject orders on behalf of EyePoint or the
authorized distributors of EyePoint, nor shall Imprimis represent explicitly or implicitly to any Third Party that it has such
authority.  With respect to Customers, EyePoint shall provide Imprimis with access to its distributors’ electronic ordering, inventory,
and sales portals for the Product, and to the extent such access is unavailable, EyePoint shall notify Imprimis in writing of such
acceptance of Customer orders within fifteen (15) days after receipt thereof.

5.4 Inventory.  Promptly after Imprimis’ reasonable request from time to time, EyePoint shall disclose to Imprimis
the current inventory of Product held by EyePoint’s distributors.  EyePoint shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that
its distributors maintain inventory of Product sufficient to meet anticipated customer demand for Product.  
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Imprimis shall provide to EyePoint, on a quarterly basis, a rolling twelve-month forecast of projected sales of Product to Customers.

5.5 Quarterly Reports.  Promptly after the end of each calendar quarter during the term of the Agreement, EyePoint
shall provide Imprimis with a report setting forth in such detail as reasonably requested by Imprimis the volume of Product sales for
such quarter for each Customer of Product.

5.6 Sale and Shipment.  With respect to each order for Product by a Customer accepted by an EyePoint distributor,
EyePoint shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that such distributor (or any other distributor) sells and ships (or
cause to sell and ship) such Product to such Customer in accordance with such order.

5.7 Warranty Claims and Returns.  As between the Parties, EyePoint shall be responsible for all warranty claims
and returns for Products.  

5.8 Registrations.  EyePoint shall be solely responsible for obtaining and maintaining any Registrations, in the
name of EyePoint, that may be necessary to permit the promotion, marketing and sale of the Products in the Territory.  EyePoint
shall own and maintain all regulatory filings and Registrations for the Products in its own name, shall be the Legal Manufacturer of
the Products, and shall be responsible for and act as the sole point of contact with the applicable regulatory authorities in connection
therewith.  

5.9 Pass-Through Status.  EyePoint shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to maintain Pass-Through Payment
Status, and, if Pass-Through Payment Status ceases, EyePoint shall promptly notify Imprimis in writing thereof.

6. [***].

7. Governance.

7.1 Commercialization Committee.

7.1.1 The Commercialization Committee shall comprise one (1) representative of EyePoint and one (1)
representative of Imprimis, each with appropriate decision making authority on behalf of such Party.  Each Party shall appoint its
representative to the Commercialization Committee prior to the first meeting thereof, and may substitute its representative from time
to time, in its sole discretion, effective upon written notice to the other Party of such change, but shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to maintain stability of Commercialization Committee representation.

7.1.2 The purpose of the Commercialization Committee under this Agreement shall be (a) to facilitate
the exchange of information between the Parties, (b) to review and discuss the activities of the Parties under this Agreement, (c) to
review, consider and make recommendations for modifications to the Marketing Materials, (d) to add Third Parties referred under
Section 3.4 as Customers to this Agreement and to determine the Baseline Period for such Customers pursuant to criteria mutually
agreed by the Parties in writing, and (e) to review other information relating to Products.

11



 
7.1.3 The Commercialization Committee shall meet at such places or in such forms (such as by

telephone conference) as determined by mutual agreement of the Parties.  Each Party may permit such visitors to a meeting of the
Commercialization Committee as mutually agreed by the Parties prior to such meeting; provided, that a Party may require each such
visitor to execute an appropriate confidentiality agreement.  Each Party shall be responsible for its own costs in connection with the
meetings of the Commercialization Committee.  The representative of each Party shall be entitled to one (1) vote.  Except as
expressly provided herein, each determination or other action of the Commercialization Committee shall require unanimous
approval by the representatives of both Parties.  If the Commercialization Committee is unable to reach such unanimous approval,
then each Party shall have the right to escalate the applicable issue to the Joint Steering Committee upon written notice to the other
Party.

7.1.4 The first meeting of the Commercialization Committee shall occur within two (2) business days
after the Effective Date.  Thereafter, for the first thirty (30)-day period following the Effective Date, the Commercialization
Committee shall meet weekly.  After such thirty (30)-day period, the Commercialization Committee shall meet no less frequently
than monthly.

7.1.5 Within ten (10) days after each Commercialization Committee meeting, a Commercialization
Committee representative of one of Parties, on an alternating basis, shall prepare and provide to each Party a copy of the minutes of
such meeting which shall set forth, in reasonably specific detail, the discussions and any approval, determination or other action
agreed to by all of the members of the Commercialization Committee.  Such minutes shall be subject to the reasonable comment and
approval by the other Party.

7.2 Joint Steering Committee.

7.2.1 The Joint Steering Committee shall comprise an equal number of representatives of EyePoint and
of Imprimis, as determined by mutual agreement of the Parties.  Initially, the Joint Steering Committee shall comprise one (1) C-
suite executive of EyePoint as EyePoint’s representative and one (1) board member or C-suite executive of Imprimis as Imprimis’
representative.  Each Party shall appoint its representative to the Joint Steering Committee prior to the first meeting thereof, and
from time to time may substitute its representative with another C-suite executive decision maker of such Party, in its sole
discretion, effective upon written notice to the other Party of such change, but shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain
stability of Joint Steering Committee representation.

7.2.2 The purpose of the Joint Steering Committee under this Agreement shall be (a) to resolve disputes
of the Commercialization Committee, (b) to oversee the Commercialization Committee and otherwise review and discuss the
activities of the Parties under this Agreement and (c) from time to time, to establish subcommittees to oversee particular projects or
activities under this Agreement.  Any subcommittee shall be constituted and shall operate as determined by the Joint Steering
Committee.

7.2.3 The Joint Steering Committee shall meet at such places or in such forms (such as by telephone
conference) as determined by mutual agreement of the Parties.  Each Party may permit such visitors to a meeting of the Joint
Steering Committee as mutually agreed by the
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Parties prior to such meeting.  Each Party shall be responsible for its own costs in connection with the meetings of the Joint Steering
Committee.  The representative of each Party shall be entitled to one (1) vote.  Except as expressly provided herein, each
determination or other action of the Joint Steering Committee shall require unanimous approval by the representatives of both
Parties.   [***].

7.2.4 The Joint Steering Committee shall meet no less frequently than quarterly.

7.2.5 Within ten (10) days after each Joint Steering Committee meeting, a Joint Steering Committee
representative of one of Parties, on an alternating basis, shall prepare and provide to each Party a copy of the minutes of such
meeting which shall set forth, in reasonably specific detail, the discussions and any approval, determination or other action agreed to
by all of the members of the Joint Steering Committee.  Such minutes shall be subject to the reasonable comment and approval by
the other Party.

8. Financial Terms and Conditions.

8.1 Remittance Amount.  EyePoint shall calculate a remittance amount, representing a sales commission to
Imprimis, for each calendar quarter based on the following formula:   [***].  This calculation will be prepared separately for Group
A Customers, Group B Customers and any future Customers added by the Commercialization Committee. For clarity, for a
Customer added to this Agreement during a calendar quarter, “A” will include only that portion of Customer Demand for that
portion of such quarter that such Customer constitutes a Customer hereunder, and “B” will include only the corresponding Baseline
Demand for such portion of such quarter for such Customer.

8.2 Reports.  Within twenty-one (21) days after the end of each calendar quarter during the term of this Agreement,
EyePoint shall deliver to Imprimis a report estimating in reasonable detail for such calendar quarter a calculation of the applicable
Remittance Amount, including the Customer Demand and Baseline Quarterly Amount for each Customer.  

8.3 Payment Terms.  

8.3.1 The Remittance Amount shown to have accrued by each report provided for under Section 8.2 shall
be due within [***]after the end of the applicable calendar quarter other than the last calendar quarter in each applicable calendar
year.  A prepayment of a portion of the Remittance Amount shall be made in accordance with Section 8.3.2.

8.3.2 Within thirty (30) days after the end of each applicable calendar quarter, EyePoint shall pay to
Imprimis a prepayment of a portion of the Remittance Amount for such calendar quarter equal to the Remittance Amount for the
immediately preceding calendar quarter divided by three (3). Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, there shall be no prepayment
of the Remittance Amount for a particular quarter if the Remittance Amount for such calendar quarter is lower than the calculated
prepayment. The Parties shall discuss in good faith on an annual basis any potential adjustments to the foregoing prepayment
amount based on EyePoint’s then calculated receivables days outstanding.
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8.3.3 EyePoint shall have the right to reasonably estimate the Customer Demand and Net Selling Price

for purposes of its payment and reporting obligations under Section 8.2 and this Section 8.3 determined in good faith based on the
most current data then available to EyePoint; provided, however, that EyePoint shall substitute the actual value for such Customer
Demand, recalculate the Remittance Amount, and update its report under Section 8.2 prior to or by the following annual
reconciliation set forth in Section 8.4.

8.4 Annual Reconciliation.  Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year, EyePoint
will conduct a final calculation of the full calendar year Remittance Amount.  Such calculation will be based on the Net Selling
Price and the Customer Demand (each, as calculated for the full calendar year).  If the Remittance Amount actually paid is less than
the amount calculated pursuant to such annual review process, then EyePoint shall promptly pay to Imprimis an amount equal to
such underpayment.  If the Remittance Amount actually paid is greater than the amount calculated pursuant to such annual review
process, then EyePoint may reduce the amount of the Remittance Amount payable pursuant to Section 8.3.1 or direct Imprimis to
(and Imprimis shall promptly) pay to EyePoint an amount equal to such overpayment.

8.5 Records Retention. For a period of two (2) years after payment of the applicable Remittance Amount, EyePoint
shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, keep and maintain complete and accurate books and records pertaining to calculation of
Customer Demand, Net Selling Price, Net Sales and the Remittance Amount, and in sufficient detail to confirm the accuracy of the
calculations of Customer Demand, Net Selling Price and the Remittance Amount payments hereunder.

8.6 Audits.  Upon the written request of Imprimis and not more than once in each calendar year, EyePoint shall
permit an independent certified public accounting firm selected by Imprimis and reasonably acceptable to EyePoint, at Imprimis’
expense, to have access during normal business hours to such of the financial records of EyePoint associated with this Agreement as
may be reasonably necessary to verify the accuracy of the Remittance Amount reports hereunder for the eight (8) calendar quarters
immediately prior to the date of such request.  If such accounting firm concludes that additional amounts were owed during the
audited period, EyePoint shall pay such additional amounts within thirty (30) days after the date Imprimis delivers to EyePoint such
accounting firm’s written report so concluding.  The fees charged by such accounting firm shall be paid by Imprimis; provided,
however, if the audit discloses that the Remittance Amount payable by EyePoint for such period are more than one hundred five
percent (105%) of the Remittance Amount actually paid for such period, then EyePoint shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses
charged by such accounting firm.  Imprimis shall cause its accounting firm to retain all financial information subject to review under
this Section 8.6 in strict confidence.  Imprimis shall treat all such financial and other disclosed information as EyePoint’s
confidential information and shall not disclose such financial information to any Third Party or use it for any purpose other than as
specified in this Section 8.6.

9. Limited Warranty. THE LIMITED WARRANTY FOR A PRODUCT SHALL BE ONLY AS SET FORTH ON THE
INSERT ACCOMPANYING THE APPLICABLE PRODUCT.  For the avoidance of doubt, Imprimis never takes legal title to any
Product under this Agreement, and any Product warranty matters as between EyePoint and its customers are under the control and
responsibility of EyePoint.
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10. Confidentiality.

10.1 Confidential Information.  During the term of this Agreement, and for a period of ten (10) years following the
expiration or earlier termination hereof, each Party shall maintain in confidence all Confidential Information of the other Party or its
Affiliates (including all Confidential Information disclosed prior to the term of this Agreement pursuant to a written confidentiality
agreement between the Parties), and shall not use, disclose or grant the use of the Confidential Information of the other Party except
on a need-to-know basis to those directors, officers, employees, consultants or permitted assignees, to the extent such use or
disclosure is reasonably necessary in connection with such Party’s activities as expressly authorized by this Agreement.  To the
extent that disclosure is authorized by this Agreement, prior to disclosure, each Party hereto shall obtain agreement of any such
Person to hold in confidence and not make use of the Confidential Information of the other Party for any purpose other than those
permitted by this Agreement.  Each Party shall notify the other promptly upon discovery of any unauthorized use or disclosure of
the Confidential Information of the other Party.

10.2 Terms of this Agreement.  Except as otherwise provided in this Section 10, during the term of this Agreement
and for a period of ten (10) years thereafter, neither Party shall disclose any terms or conditions of this Agreement to any Third
Party without the prior consent of the other Party; provided, however, that a Party may disclose the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, (a) in confidence on a need-to-know basis to its legal and financial advisors to the extent such disclosure is reasonably
necessary, (b) in confidence in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement or rights under this Agreement, and (c) to a Third
Party in confidence in connection with an actual or proposed (i) equity investment in, or a strategic alliance with, such Party or
(ii) Change of Control of such Party.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to execution of this Agreement, the Parties have agreed
in writing upon the substance of information that can be used to describe the terms of this transaction, and each Party may disclose
such information, as modified by mutual agreement from time to time, without the other Party’s consent.

10.3 Permitted Disclosures.  The confidentiality obligations contained in this Section 10 shall not apply to the
extent that a Party is required (a) in the reasonable opinion of such Party’s legal counsel, to disclose information by applicable law,
regulation, rule (including rule of a stock exchange or automated quotation system), order of a governmental agency or a court of
competent jurisdiction or legal process, including tax authorities, or (b) to disclose information to any governmental agency for
purposes of obtaining approval to test or market a product; provided, in either case ((a) or (b)), that, to the extent practicable, such
Party shall provide written notice thereof to the other party and sufficient opportunity to object to any such disclosure or to request
confidential treatment thereof.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, each Party may disclose the terms and conditions
of this Agreement to any Person with whom such Party has, or is proposing to enter into, a business relationship related to Product,
as long as such Person has entered into a confidentiality agreement with such Party.

11. Intellectual Property Rights.

11.1 Patent Rights.  EyePoint does not, either expressly or impliedly, grant any licenses to Imprimis under any
patents owned or otherwise controlled by EyePoint or under which EyePoint
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has any rights, except the right to promote, market and solicit orders for the Products on the terms and subject to the conditions of
this Agreement.

11.2 EyePoint Marks.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any reasonable use policy that
may be provided in writing by EyePoint to Imprimis from time to time, EyePoint hereby grants to Imprimis a non-exclusive license
(with the limited right to grant sublicenses to authorized sub-agents) to use the EyePoint Marks solely in connection with the
promotion, marketing and soliciting orders for the Products in the Territory on the terms and subject to the conditions of this
Agreement.  Any goodwill associated with the EyePoint Marks affixed or applied or used in connection with the Products shall
accrue to the sole benefit of EyePoint.  

11.3 Copyrights.

11.3.1 Imprimis hereby acknowledges that EyePoint or a Third Party has claimed, or may claim,
copyright protection with respect to certain parts of the Products and the labels, inserts, studies, publications, Marketing Materials,
promotional materials, and other materials related to the Products.  Imprimis shall not knowingly take any action which is in any
way inconsistent with EyePoint’s or such Third Party’s claim of copyright protection with respect to such items.

11.3.2 For clarity, nothing contained in this Section 11.3 shall prohibit Imprimis from copying and
distributing to its sales representatives or in connection with its commercialization of Products hereunder Marketing Materials or
materials prepared by or on behalf of EyePoint for the purpose of fulfilling Imprimis’ obligations under this Agreement, in each
case, to the extent permitted hereunder.  EyePoint hereby grants Imprimis a non-exclusive, royalty-free license (with the right to
grant sublicenses to permitted sub-agents) to use, copy, display and distribute such materials solely for the purpose of fulfilling
Imprimis’ obligations under this Agreement.

12. Indemnity.

12.1 By EyePoint.  EyePoint shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Imprimis, its sub-agents, its and their
respective Affiliates, and its and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from and against all losses, liabilities,
damages and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) (“Liabilities”) resulting from any claims, demands, actions
or other proceedings by any Third Party (“Third-Party Claim”) to the extent resulting from (a) the breach of any representation,
warranty or covenant of EyePoint under this Agreement; (b) the use by any purchaser of, or any defect in, the Products, (c) the
infringement, misappropriation or other violation of any intellectual property rights of a Third Party by or in connection with the
Products; (d) the negligence or willful misconduct of EyePoint or any of its Affiliates in the performance of its obligations under
this Agreement; (e) any fraud or misrepresentations by EyePoint; (f) the authorized use of the EyePoint Marks under this
Agreement; or (g) any violation by EyePoint (or any of its directors, officers, employees, distributors or agents) of any applicable
laws, regulations or court orders; provided, however, that the foregoing indemnity obligation shall not apply to the extent that any
Liability arises from, is based on, or results from any matter set forth in Section 12.2 for which Imprimis has an indemnification
obligation.
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12.2 By Imprimis.  Imprimis shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless EyePoint, its Affiliates, and their

respective directors, officers, employees and agents, from and against all Liabilities resulting from any Third-Party Claim to the
extent resulting from (a) the breach of any representation, warranty or covenant of Imprimis under this Agreement; (b) the
negligence or willful misconduct of Imprimis or any of its Affiliates, including its sales representatives, in the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement; (c) any fraud or misrepresentations by Imprimis, or (d) any violation by Imprimis (or any of its
directors, officers, employees or agents) of any applicable laws, regulations or court orders, provided, however, that the foregoing
indemnity obligation shall not apply to the extent that any Liability arises from, is based on, or results from any matter set forth in
Section 12.1 for which EyePoint has an indemnification obligation.

12.3 Procedure. A Party seeking indemnification (the “Indemnitee”) shall promptly notify the other Party (the
“Indemnifying Party”) in writing of a Third-Party Claim; provided, that an Indemnitee’s failure to give such notice or delay in
giving such notice shall not affect such Indemnitee’s right to indemnification under this Section 12 except to the extent that the
Indemnifying Party has been prejudiced by such failure or delay.  The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to control the defense
of all indemnification claims hereunder.  The Indemnitee shall have the right to participate at its own expense in the Third-Party
Claim with counsel of its own choosing.  The Indemnifying Party shall consult with the Indemnitee in good faith with respect to all
non-privileged aspects of the defense strategy.  The Indemnitee shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party as reasonably requested
at the Indemnifying Party’s sole cost and expense.  The Indemnifying Party shall not settle or otherwise consent to an adverse
judgment in any such Third-Party Claim that diminishes the rights or interests of the Indemnitee without the prior express written
consent of the Indemnitee, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

13. Term and Termination.

13.1 Term.  Unless terminated earlier, or extended, pursuant to this Agreement or by mutual written agreement of
the Parties, this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall expire on fifth (5th) anniversary thereof (the “Term”).

13.2 Termination for Convenience. From and after August 1, 2021, provided that Imprimis has used Commercially
Reasonable Efforts to market and promote Product to all Customers, Imprimis may terminate this Agreement for any reason or no
reason upon twelve (12) months’ prior written notice of termination to EyePoint.  For the avoidance of doubt, the earliest date of
termination possible pursuant to this Section 13.2 is July 31, 2022.  Should Imprimis exercise this provision, no sales commissions,
calculated as a Remittance Amount, will be payable for sales beyond the date of termination.

13.3 End of Pass-Through Payment Status.  If Pass-Through Payment Status ceases, then either Party may
terminate this Agreement by providing ninety (90) days’ prior written notice of termination to the other Party promptly after the end
of the calendar quarter in which Pass-Through Payment Status ceases.
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13.4 Termination for Cause.

13.4.1 A Party may terminate this Agreement upon or after any material breach of this Agreement by the
other Party if the other Party has not cured such breach within sixty (60) days after written notice thereof from the non-breaching
Party.

13.4.2 If Imprimis fails to achieve bona fide Customer orders for quantities of Product to achieve the
minimum sales level within the applicable minimum period (each as set forth in the table below), then EyePoint shall have the right
to terminate this Agreement by providing sixty (60) days’ prior written notice of termination to Imprimis within sixty (60) days after
the end of such period:

Minimum Period Minimum Sales Level (Customer Demand in excess of Baseline
Demand for such period)

First Minimum Year [***]

First Minimum Sales Period [***]

Each subsequent Minimum Sales Period during the Term [***]
 

13.5 Change of Control.  If EyePoint undergoes a Change of Control, other than a Change of Control that results in
an EW Healthcare Entity directly or indirectly controlling EyePoint, then EyePoint may terminate this Agreement by providing
ninety (90) days’ prior written notice of termination to Imprimis within thirty (30) days after such Change of Control.

13.6 Effect of Expiration or Termination.

13.6.1 Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any rights which shall
have accrued to the benefit of a Party prior to such expiration or termination.  In addition and without limiting the foregoing,
Sections 2.4, 4.3, 4.4, 5.7, 9, 10, 12, 13.6 and 14 will survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement, and, unless a later
survival end date is specified elsewhere in this Section 13.6, Sections 8.5 and 8.6 shall survive for a period of five (5) years after
expiration or termination.  

13.6.2 If Imprimis terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 13.4.1, then Section 8 (other than
Sections 8.5 and 8.6) shall additionally survive until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date, and Sections 8.5 and 8.6 shall
survive until the seventh (7th) anniversary of the Effective Date.

13.6.3 If EyePoint terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 13.4.2, then Section 8 (other than
Sections 8.5 and 8.6) shall not survive after termination and all payments under Section 8 expire on the date of termination, and
Sections 8.5 and 8.6 shall survive for a period of three (3) years after termination.
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13.6.4 If Imprimis terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 13.2 all payments under Section 8

expire on the date of termination.  Further section 13.5 will not apply if Imprimis terminates pursuant to Section 13.2.

13.6.5 If EyePoint terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 13.5, then Section 8 (other than
Sections 8.5 and 8.6) shall additionally survive until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date, and Sections 8.5 and 8.6 shall
survive until the seventh (7th) anniversary of the Effective Date, except that the Remittance Percentages set forth in Section 8.1
shall equal the applicable percentage(s) for the applicable period(s) as set forth in the table below instead of [***]:

Calendar Year of Termination Remittance Percentage

2021, 2022, or 2023 [***]for the twelve (12)-month period commencing on termination

[***]for the following twelve (12)-month period

[***]thereafter until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date

2024 [***]for the twelve (12)-month period commencing on termination

[***]thereafter until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date

2025 [***]until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date

13.6.6 Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, promptly upon the expiration or earlier
termination of this Agreement, each Party shall return to the other Party all tangible items regarding the Confidential Information of
the other Party and all copies thereof, provided, however, that each Party shall have the right to retain one (1) copy for its legal files
for the sole purpose of determining its obligations hereunder and for purposes of exercising any rights that survive expiration or
termination hereunder.

14. Miscellaneous.

14.1 HIPAA Requirements.  Without limiting the generality of anything set forth in this Agreement, each Party
shall comply with all applicable regulations promulgated under HIPAA, including the federal privacy regulations contained in 45
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, the federal security standards contained in 45 C.F.R. Part 142, and the federal standards for electronic
transactions contained in 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 162 (the “HIPAA Requirements”).  Each Party shall not use or further disclose any
protected health information as described in the HIPAA Requirements, other than as permitted by HIPAA Requirements and the
terms of this Agreement.  Each Party shall make its internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of
Protected Health Information (as defined in HIPAA) available to the Secretary of Health and Human Services to the extent required
for determining compliance with the HIPAA Requirements.
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14.2 Conduct of Business.  Each of Imprimis and EyePoint shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to conduct

its business in a manner that reflects favorably on the reputation of each of EyePoint and Imprimis, respectively; provided, that this
shall not limit a Party’s ability to fully exercise its rights under this Agreement.

14.3 Compliance with Laws.  Each of EyePoint and Imprimis shall comply with any and all governmental laws,
regulations and orders applicable to the Registration, promotion, marketing, sale and distribution of the Products in the Territory and
to relationships with health care professionals, including, with respect to Imprimis, any requirement to be registered as EyePoint’s
independent agent with any governmental authority.    

14.4 Insurance.  Each Party shall maintain self-insurance or general commercial liability insurance, including
contractual liability insurance and product liability insurance against claims regarding its activities contemplated by this Agreement,
in each case in such amounts as it customarily maintains for similar products and activities.  Each Party shall maintain such
insurance during the term of this Agreement and thereafter for so long as it maintains insurance for itself covering such activities.

14.5 Expenses.  Each of Imprimis and EyePoint shall be responsible for all of its own expenses and employees in
connection with its activities contemplated by this Agreement.  Neither Imprimis nor EyePoint shall incur any expense chargeable to
such other Party, except as may be specifically authorized in advance in writing in each case by such other Party.

14.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof.  The Exhibits attached hereto constitute part of this Agreement.  All express or implied representations, agreements
and understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof, either oral or written, heretofore made are expressly superseded by this
Agreement.  

14.7 Amendments.  No amendment or modification of the terms of this Agreement shall be binding on either Party
unless reduced to writing and signed by an authorized officer of the Party to be bound.

14.8 Waiver.  No waiver by one Party of the other Party’s obligations, or of any breach or default hereunder by any
other Party, shall be valid or effective, unless such waiver is set forth in writing and is signed by the Party giving such waiver; and
no such waiver shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of the same or similar nature or any other breach or
default by such other Party.

14.9 Further Assurances.  EyePoint and Imprimis each shall perform any and all further acts and execute and
deliver any and all further documents and instruments that may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this Agreement.

14.10 Notices.  Any consent, notice or report required or permitted to be given or made under this Agreement by
one of the Parties to the other shall be in writing and addressed to such other Party at its address indicated below, or to such other
address as the addressee shall have last furnished in writing to the addressor, and shall be effective upon receipt by the addressee.
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If to EyePoint: EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

480 Pleasant Street, Suite B300
Watertown, Massachusetts 02472
Attention:  Chief Executive Officer

If to Imprimis: ImprimisRx, LLC
12264 El Camino Real, Suite 350
San Diego, California 92130
Attention:  President

14.11 Assignment.  Except as otherwise expressly provided under this Agreement, neither this Agreement nor any
right or obligation hereunder may be assigned or otherwise transferred (whether voluntarily, by operation of law or otherwise),
without the prior express written consent of the other Party, provided, however that either Party may, without such consent, assign
this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder in whole or in part (i) to an Affiliate of such Party, or (ii) in connection with
the Change of Control of such Party or to a Third Party successor of such Party to all or substantially all of the business to which
this Agreement relates, whether in a merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or other transaction.  Any permitted assignee shall assume
all obligations of its assignor under this Agreement.  Any purported assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 14.11 shall be
void.

14.12 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of
Delaware, without regard to the conflicts of law principles thereof, and shall not be governed by the United Nations Convention on
Contracts for the International Sale of Goods.

14.13 Dispute Resolution.  Any and all disputes or claims arising from or out of this Agreement shall be litigated
exclusively before a court of the State of Delaware or, if subject matter jurisdiction exists, the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware. Each Party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to the exclusive personal jurisdiction and service
of, and venue of, any such court, and further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim that any
action, lawsuit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.  Any judgment issued by such a
court may be enforced in any court having jurisdiction.

14.14 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  WITHOUT LIMITING THE RIGHTS OR REMEDIES OF THE PARTIES
REGARDING (A) THE OBLIGATIONS TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD HARMLESS PURSUANT TO SECTION 12,
(B) A BREACH OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 10, OR (C) A CLAIM ARISING
OUT OF FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY
SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER FORESEEABLE OR NOT, ARISING
OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE EXERCISE OF ITS RIGHTS HEREUNDER, REGARDLESS OF ANY NOTICE OF
SUCH DAMAGES.  

14.15 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, then
(a) such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other
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provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction, and (b) such provision, in
such jurisdiction, shall be replaced by a valid, legal and enforceable provision that best reflects the Parties’ intent for such first
provision.

14.16 Independent Contractors.  Each Party hereby acknowledges that the Parties shall be independent contractors
and that the relationship between the Parties shall not constitute a partnership, joint venture or agency.  Neither Party shall have the
authority to make any statements, representations or commitments of any kind, or to take any action, which shall be binding on the
other Party, without the prior consent of the other Party to do so.

14.17 Waiver.  The waiver by a Party of any right hereunder, or the failure to perform or of a breach by the other
Party, shall not constitute a waiver of any other right hereunder or of any other breach or failure by the other Party whether of a
similar nature or otherwise.

14.18 Force Majeure.  A Party shall neither be held liable or responsible to the other Party, nor be deemed to have
defaulted under or breached this Agreement, for failure or delay in fulfilling or performing any obligation under this Agreement to
the extent, and for so long as, such failure or delay is caused by, or results from, causes beyond the reasonable control of such Party,
regardless of whether such cause is foreseeable as of the Effective Date or thereafter, including fire, floods, embargoes, war, acts of
war (whether war be declared or not), insurrections, riots, civil commotions, strikes, lockouts or other labor disturbances, acts of
God or acts, national or regional emergency, epidemic or pandemic (including COVID-19), and omissions or delays in acting by any
governmental authority or the other Party.   [***].

14.19 Taxes.

14.19.1 EyePoint will make all payments to Imprimis under this Agreement without deduction or
withholding for Taxes except to the extent that any such deduction or withholding is required by law in effect at the time of
payment.

14.19.2 Any Tax required to be withheld on amounts payable under this Agreement will be paid by
EyePoint on behalf of Imprimis to the appropriate governmental authority, and EyePoint shall furnish Imprimis with proof of
payment of such Tax.  Any such Tax required to be withheld will be an expense of and borne by Imprimis.

14.19.3 EyePoint and Imprimis will cooperate with respect to all documentation required by any Taxing
authority or reasonably requested by EyePoint to secure a reduction in the rate of applicable withholding Taxes.  Promptly after the
Effective Date, Imprimis will deliver to EyePoint an accurate and complete Internal Revenue Service Form W-9.

14.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

EYEPOINT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:/s/Nancy
Lurker

Name: Nancy Lurker

Title: President & CEO

IMPRIMISRX, LLC

By:/s/John Saharek

Name: John Saharek

Title: President
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Nancy Lurker, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2020

 

/s/ Nancy Lurker
Name:    Nancy Lurker
Title:      President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

 

 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

CERTIFICATIONS

I, George Elston, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2020

 

/s/ George Elston
Name:    George Elston
Title:      Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate Development

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

 

 



 
Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

In connection with the Quarterly Report of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Nancy Lurker, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify that to the best of my knowledge:

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 6, 2020

 

/s/ Nancy Lurker
Name:    Nancy Lurker
Title:      President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

In connection with the Quarterly Report of EyePoint Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, George Elston, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate
Development of the Company, certify that to the best of my knowledge:

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 6, 2020

 

/s/ George Elston
Name:    George Elston
Title:      Chief Financial Officer and Head of Corporate Development

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
 

 


